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Our Vision 

 

A strong, relevant and sustainable profession. 

Our Mission 

To build a strong and engaged professional accountancy organization that anticipates 
stakeholder expectations and acts in the public interest. 

Our Core Values 

• Integrity; 
• Public interest; 
• Professionalism; 
• Innovation.
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Foreword 

This syllabus is a product of research and careful benchmarking against globally-recognized 
qualifications. The International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) International Accounting 
Education Standards (IESs) were taken into account in its update. Different stakeholders 
within and outside Rwanda played a leading role in the review and update of this 
syllabus. This qualification is therefore internationally benchmarked to ensure global 
recognition and marketability of CPA (R) qualification holders. 

The 2008  and subsequent 2015 World bank report on observance of standards and codes in 
accounting and auditing (ROSC - A&A) among other things recommended that ICPAR 
establishes a mechanism for qualifying professional accountants to enable Rwanda to realise a 
critical mass of highly qualified accountants to serve the rising demand for accountants in a 
rapidly expanding economy. 

The National Strategy for Transfomation 1 (NST1) seeks to achieve a skilled labour force for 
Rwanda. This is a key driver for economic development. This qualification program therefore 
is a direct contribution to the realisation of this objective. The accountancy profession will 
further use its expertise to stimulate national growth through not only qualifying highly 
productive graduates but use this as an avenue to attract more investors by providing quality 
advice and support to the business community as a way to boost trade and investment. 

Establishing this qualification not only enables us meet the national goal stated above but it 
will provide opportunity for us to fulfill the ICPAR’s legal mandates as outlined in the 
Accountants Law Number 11 of 2008. I wish to note that consistent with our strategic Vision 
and Mission, this updated syllabus will serve as an important instrument for meeting the goals 
we have set out to fulfill. 

This updated syllabus is a transition measure as the institute is intending to do a complete 
revamp of CPA in the near future. It was necessitated by changes in laws, professional 
standards and emerging issues among others.  

The update is a culmination of a comprehensive due process that included wide consultation 
with stakeholders including universities, government ministries, members of the Institute, 
students, among others. Above all, consultations were made with our regional partners. We 
sought input from globally recognised members of the International Federation of 
Accountants. These involved consultations with institutes such as Uganda (ICPAU), Kenya 
(ICPAK & KASNEB), Tanzania (NBAA) among others. We thank them for their generous 
and insightful contribution. 

I sincerely thank the Government of Rwanda and the development partners who contribute to 
the PFM Basket Fund for funding this program. I’m truly grateful to all who contributed 
towards making this process a success. This is just the beginning of a long journey. We look 
forward to your continued active participation in the development and growth of the 
accountancy profession in Rwanda. 

 
Dr. Patrick Uwizeye 
ICPAR President  
The 30th of January 2020 
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1. 0     ABOUT ICPAR  

1.1          Background and Legal Status 

The Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Rwanda (ICPAR) is a Professional 
Accountancy Organization (PAO) established in 2008. ICPAR gets its legal mandate from 
Law Number 11/2008 to regulate the Accountancy profession in the Republic of Rwanda.  
ICPAR is the only body authorized by law to register and grant practicing certificates to 
Certified Public Accountants (CPAs) in Rwanda. Certified Public Accountant Certificate 
holders that are registered as members of ICPAR are entitled to the CPA (R)designation. 

The World Bank ROSC Report of 2008 and that of 2015 identified numerous gaps in 
Rwanda in the accountancy profession. These include among others; 

• Except for larger entities, the corporate sector in general did not have access to 
professionally qualified accountants; 

• The accountants of many corporate entities lacked the required skills to prepare 
financial statements in accordance with applicable accounting and reporting 
requirements 

• Accountancy education and training capacity was inadequate to effectively meet the 
needs of the Rwandan economy; 

• Professionals working in small accountancy firms found it difficult to stay updated on 
recent developments in accounting and auditing. These practitioners were constantly 
struggling to keep their client base and earn enough to stay afloat; 

• The accounting curricula did not focus on IFRSs and ISAs in higher education 
accounting degree programs; 

• Academic education in accounting also lacked adequate coverage of professional 
values, attitudes and ethics. 

The Institute operates to serve the public interest and has wide-ranging responsibilities, 
including promotion and adherence to financial reporting standards, delivery of accounting 
qualifications, programs and examinations, responsibility for auditing oversight and ethical 
issues. The Institute therefore has overall responsibility for regulating and promoting efficient 
accounting practices in the public interest. 

This updated syllabus is therefore meant to cater for new changes that arise as a result of 
changes in laws, professional standards and emerging issues among others.  

1.2        Governance 

ICPAR is headed by a Governing Council comprising of ten Council members. Council’s 
policy decisions are executed by the Secretariat headed by a Chief Executive Officer. The 
Secretariat executes the Institute policies with leadership and support from the following 
organs, 

a)        The General Assembly b)      The Governing Council c)     Technical Commissions 
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1.3         Responsibilities of ICPAR  

Article 7 of the Accountants Law Number 11 of 06/05/2008 outlines the following 
responsibilities of ICPAR; 

1. Regulate the accountancy profession; 
2. Preserve the integrity of the accounting profession; 
3. Promote the competence and the capacities of its members; 
4. Provide to its members professional education in accounting and other related 

disciplines 
5. Issue regulations for promoting the functioning of the Institute 
6. Take disciplinary measures against members unable to perform their duties and 

guilty of misconduct 
7. Promote and preserve the professional independence of its members while 

exercising their profession 
8. Promote the common interests of its members 
9. Advocate for members in the country and abroad 
10. Promote the recognition of the Institute in the country and abroad 
11. Issue and to promote the implementation of accounting and auditing standards in 

public organs and private sector; 
12. Provide advisory commentary on curricula for any accountancy courses 
13. Develop teaching programmes, to organize examinations and to issue certificates 

in matters relating to accounting profession; 
14. Make contribution on bills relating to the accounting profession; 
15. Give advice to Government on matters relating to the accounting profession; 
16. Take appropriate measures enabling the Institute to perform its responsibilities; 
17. Issue licences for exercising the accounting profession to qualifying members 

requesting such licenses and to withdraw them in case of misconduct; 
18. Determine any other functions aimed at promoting the accounting profession; 
19. Promote membership of the Institute in IFAC 

2.0   The ICPAR Qualification Program  

ICPAR offers the following examinations : Certified Public Accountants (CPA) 
Examination: for persons who wish to qualify and work as professional accountants, 
auditors, finance managers, tax specialists and financial consultants. 

Certified Accounting Technicians (CAT) Examination: for persons who wish to qualify 
and work as middle level accountants and technical support specialists in auditing, taxation 
and other related fields. 

2.1        Objectives of the ICPAR Examinations 

The Objectives of the ICPAR examinations are to produce; 

1. Highly qualified professionals in accountancy and auditing with technical competency 
to prepare, maintain, present and analyse financial information in oral and written 
forms. 
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2. Highly qualified managers and leaders with the ability to make sound judgment and 
informed business decisions. 

3. Business advisers who act with integrity by upholding ethical standards and 
professional values and attitudes in their conduct when discharging duties. 

4. Professionals who are able to create and deliver innovative solutions as responsible 
corporate citizens able to address business problems in a complex and dynamic 
business environment. 

Each level in this syllabus is preceded by the learning/course objectives. This guides 
candidates in the program to focus on specific outcomes and for exam preparation. 

2.2        The Certified Public Accountants (CPA) Examination 

The CPA Examination will be held twice yearly in June and December. The examination is 
divided into three levels. Foundation Level 1  & 2(8 Papers), Intermediate Level (4 Papers) 
and Advanced Level 1 & 2 ( 6 Papers). A certificate will be issued for each Sub-level and 
Level with a clarification of the nature of tasks one can undertake in the work 
environment. This will enable candidates benefit from the Sub-levels/Levels covered by  
engaging  in  gainful  employment  while  pursuing  the rest  of  the examinations. 

2.3        Pursuing the CPA Examination 

The  examination  is  rigorous  and  standards  are  high  and  potential  candidates should  
reflect  carefully  on  the  choice  to  pursue  a  career  in  Accountancy.  Candidates  are  
advised  to  devote  approximately  the  equivalent  of  twelve  months  of full  time  study  
for  each  Sub-level  of  the  examination.  Ideally  therefore,  a  student  should  be  able  to  
complete  the  qualification  over  five  to  six  years  period. 

Entrants should consider their chances of successfully completing professional accounting 
education by taking into account the content covered, its level, and methods of assessment of 
the program. Those who complete the program get a decent shot  at  their  dreams  through  
brighter  career  prospects  and  plum  opportunities. 

A  student  should  programme  the  studies  in  such  a  way  that  makes  it  possible   to   
take   and   pass   the   five   sub-   levels   in   a   duration   of   between five   to   six   years   
following   the   date   of   registration   as   an   ICPAR   student. 

The CPA examination is benchmarked on the international standards promulgated by IESs 
Setters, International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) and International Public Sector Accounting Standards 
Board (IPSASB). The CPA examination therefore meets the requirements of International 
Accounting Education Standards (IESs), International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (IPSASs). 

The    IESs    prescribe    requirements    relating    to    entry,    professional    training 
and  practice    as    required    by    International    Federation    of    Accountants   (IFAC)   
for   the   qualification   programme   for   professional   accountants. Holders of final CPA 
certificates are eligible for admission to pursue masters and other higher degrees in reputable 
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universities, both in Rwanda and foreign countries. In some countries, this qualification has 
been equated to a Masters degree. ICPAR will continue to use the best endeavors to attain 
such recognition in Rwanda, the EAC region and beyond. 

2.4   Practical Experience Requirements and Continuous Professional Development 

ICPAR has developed a practical requirement framework to enable students attain 
experience during or after completion of the qualification. This is a requirement by IFAC 
under IES 5: Practical Experience Requirements. We greatly encourage students taking the 
CPA examination to solicit for opportunities     for     practical     experience     while     this     
framework     comes into     place.  This is an integral part of the qualification program. The   
minimum period of experience required is   two years for CPAs and one year for CATs to 
apply for ICPAR membership. 

Integration with the Training Process 

The integration and interdependence of learning across subjects is now more explicitly 
highlighted than heretofore. 

Other features of the education and training processes are:- 

• The learning outcomes are specified in the syllabus for each subject 

• The Competency Profile details the competencies required of any entry level Certified 
Public Accountant 

• Many of the competencies required of an entry level accountant are assessed through 
the examination process 

• Other competencies, by their nature, may be evaluated only in the work place through 
a supervised training regime. These may include non- technical competencies such as 
team working, leadership, effective communication skills and problem solving 
capabilities. 

• The development of professional values, ethics and attitudes is an intrinsic and visible 
part of the education and training processes. 

Continuous Professional Development (CPD) 

During and after the qualification, candidates are required to attend accountancy education 
workshops organised by ICPAR to gain practical experience,skills and knowledge being 
required as well as to remain up to date with new developments in the accountancy profession. 
Candidates will be required to meet a minimum number of CPD hours annually towards partial 
fulfillment of practical experience requirements. 
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3.0        Examination Rules and Regulations 

1. The Examinations held by the Institute are divided into five separate sub levels and are 
designated as follows: 

i. Foundation Level 

Foundation  1  

Foundation 2 

ii. Intermediate Level  

iii. Advanced Level 

Advanced 1  

Advanced 2 

2. The Examinations of the Institute shall be held in such places as the Institute may 
from time to time determine during the months of December and  June in each year or 
at such further or other times as the Institute may from time to time direct. 

3. The dates of the Examinations will be published on the ICPAR website and all 
registered students receive written confirmation of the date, time and place of each 
examination. 

4. A fully completed Examination Entry Form must be dispatched so as to reach ICPAR 
not later than 15th September in the case of the first diet of examinations in a calendar 
year and 15th March in the case of the second diet of examinations in a calendar year 
or at such other times as the Institute may from time to time direct. 

5. A student, that has sufficient examination sittings available, may transfer his / her 
examination entry fee to the next examination diet provided he/ she pays the relevant 
transfer fee and informs the Institute in writing at least ten working days before the 
examination commencement date. If a student does not sit his / her examinations at the 
next examination diet, then his / her examination entry fee is forfeited. 

6. Copies of examination past papers may be downloaded from the ICPAR website or 
purchased from the Institute. 

7.         Each student presenting for the examinations of the Institute must: 

•   be a registered student of the Institute, 

•  ensure that his / her Examination Entry form has been received by the Institute on 
time and have paid the appropriate examination fee, 

•  have paid the appropriate annual student subscription (payable on 1 July each year), 

•  have his / her CPA Student I.D. card at the examination centre, 

•  have his / her CPA current examination number at the examination centre. 

8. Students are not permitted to recommence the Institute’s examinations if they have 
been unsuccessful in completing any level within the limits set out in 3.4 and 3.5. 
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9. Students must obtain a mark of 50 or more  in any subject to be awarded a pass in that 
subject. 

10. During exams, students are provided with all papers i.e. examination answer booklet, 
graph paper and log books. 

11. Students must bring their own pens (black or blue), pencils, correction fluid, erasers, 
rulers, etc. 

12. Calculators are permitted - provided they are noiseless, battery operated and do not 
issue printouts. 

13. All tables relevant to examinations will be provided, including tax rates, personal 
reliefs or allowances. 

14.    Questions involving knowledge of new legislation will not be asked within 1 year of the 
passing of the relevant legislation. 

15. The Institute’s examinations at Foundation 1, Foundation 2 and Intermediate Level are 
not “open book” examinations. Therefore, students sitting examinations at these levels 
are not permitted to bring reference books, notes, or any other material written or 
otherwise into the examination hall. 

16. Examinations at Advanced levels (1& 2) are open book. Students for open book 
examinations may bring reference material, in hard copy format only, into the 
examination hall. Students at this level are not allowed to exchange/share reference 
materials .Any reference material brought by an Advanced level student into an 
examination hall must be capable of being contained within a container with the 
following internal dimensions: width 210mm, length 295mm (the dimensions of an 
A4 sheet of paper), and the overall height should not exceed 350mm. 

17. All unauthorized material introduced by students into an examination hall must be 
submitted to the Examination Invigilator, and may be retained for transmission to 
ICPAR if so required. Students are not permitted to hold mobile phones, laptop 
computers, electronic notebooks, or other electronic communications devices in the 
examination hall. All mobile phones, laptop computers, electronic notebooks and 
other electronic communications equipment must be submitted to the Examination 
Invigilator before any examination commences. The Institute cannot accept any 
responsibility for loss or damage to any property brought into an examination hall. 

18. In the event that, for whatever reason, the commencement or conduct of an 
examination is delayed or disrupted, the Examination Chief Invigilator will be entitled 
to make such special arrangements for the conduct of the examination as to him / her 
seem appropriate and he / she shall report to ICPAR prior to taking such action on the 
circumstances of the case and on the special arrangements then made for the conduct 
of the examination. 

19.       Results will be sent to students and will also be availed through the website. 
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20. If a student is dissatisfied with the results received in an examination, the student has 
the right to apply for a recheck. A recheck is carried out by an External Examiner. 
ICPAR does not enter into discussion with the student on the results of a recheck. An 
application for a recheck must be accompanied by a fee, as determined by Council and 
received by the Institute not later than 14 days from the date of posting of results. 
Council shall alter the amount of this fee from time to time. Any recheck application 
received after 14 days from the date of posting of results will not be submitted to the 
External Examiner. 

21.       The examination answer scripts remain the property of ICPAR. 

22. Students who have Special Needs: Extra time and / or special facilities to answer 
examinations may be granted by ICPAR to students who have special needs which 
affect materially their ability to answer examinations within the required time. The 
decision of ICPAR is final and ICPAR will determine how much extra time and / or 
special facilities (if any) may be granted. An application for such special arrangements 
should be made at least two weeks before the examination entry closing date and 
referred to in the entry form. Full details of the special needs should be given, together 
with a medical report and a supporting letter from the candidate. Prior to making such 
an application, an applicant must contact ICPAR by email, letter or telephone, to 
advise of his / her intention to apply for a special arrangement. 

23.       It is the policy of the Institute not to refund fees paid, fees paid can be transferred to 
next examiations sittings provided that a student has communicated 14 days before 
commencement of the examinations delivery.  

24. Overseas Students: Where prior permission has been given by ICPAR, a student may 
sit his / her examination at an overseas centre. Where such permission has been 
granted, the student must sign the necessary declaration form, issued by ICPAR, and 
agree to any additional conditions as decided upon by ICPAR before being allowed to 
sit the examination. 

25.      Students sitting the Taxation examinations are not expected to memorise tax rates or 
personal reliefs or allowances. This information will be provided with the examination 
papers. 

26. Students not resident in the Rwanda, may, at the discretion of ICPAR be permitted to 
answer the examinations papers in accordance with the law in force in their own 
countries, provided this is clearly stated on their form of application. ICPAR must be 
in receipt of a written request at least six months prior of the examination. 

27. In the event of student’s examination answer scripts being stolen, lost in transit or 
otherwise misplaced prior to the examination results being approved by ICPAR, and 
the results not being available to ICPAR, then , at the discretion of ICPAR, it may be 
deemed that those students did not sit the relevant examination(s). The decision of 
ICPAR shall, without prejudice, be final in any such circumstances. 
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28. An event as referred to in Examination Regulation 27 shall have no adverse impact on 
any such student’s obligations to pass the relevant level of examinations within the 
prescribed period. 

29. ICPAR will arrange for a substitute examination, or examinations, to be sat within two 
months of the date of event as referred above. 

30. Following an event as referred to in Examination Regulation 27 a student may opt to 
sit the substitute examination(s) or defer sitting the relevant examination(s) until the 
next scheduled sitting. 

31. Whichever substitute examination(s) that a student elects to sit then the result(s) 
achieved in this, (these) examination(s) will be considered as part of the overall 
result(s). 

32. No examination fee will apply for the sitting of any such substitute examination(s). 

3.1        Entry Requirements 

• Senior Six Certificate with two (2) principal passes or its equivalent OR 
• Certified Accounting Technician (CAT) Certificate from ICPAR or its equivalent  

OR 

• Bachelors degree holders from recognized universities OR 
• Diploma in Accounting or Accounting Certificate from a recognized University or 

Professional Accountancy body plus two (2) years work experience OR second Year 
University students specializing in Accounting or Business studies 

• Such other certificate or diploma as may be approved by ICPAR 
• Mature entry route  

Ø Ordinary level with atleast 6 years of practical work experience 
Ø More than 10 years of relevant work experience with proof from a recognised 

employer for candidates with qualifications different cited above. 

3.2        Exemptions 

The exemption will be granted according to the institute exemption policy that will be in 
effect by February 2020. At the moment exemptions may, upon formal request, be given to 
registered students who are holders of certain degrees, certificates and diplomas recognised 
by ICPAR. These exemptions are granted on a paper by paper basis. 

3.3        Retention of Credits 

Papers taken and passed in a level shall be retained as credits provided that the candidate 
enters and attempts all the papers in a level unless the candidate is exempted from some 
papers in the level or has earned credits in previous attempts. 

Further, a candidate who is awarded credit(s) in a sub-level must enter and pass the failed 
papers in the sub-level in three years or six (6) sittings that follow, failure to which the 
candidate will be required to sit all the papers in the sublevel. 
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3.4        Progression to Next Level 

3.4.1 A candidate is allowed to undertake a maximum of six papers in one sitting . 

3.4.2 A candidate is allowed to combine examination papers at different level/sublevels  
provided that the outstanding papers at lower level/sub level are within the 
combination.     

3.4.3 A candidate is allowed to combine foundation level 1 and level 2 provided that he/she 
does not violate rule number 3.4.1 and 3.4.2. 

3.4.4 A candidate is allowed to combine subjects of foundation level and those at 
intermediate level provided that he/she meets the following criteria.  

a) A candidate who has not yet passed F1.1 and F2.1  will not be allowed to attempt 
I1.1.  

b) A candidate who has not yet passed F1.3 will not be allowed to attempt I1.2 and I1.4. 

c) A candidate who has not passed F1.2 will not be allowed to attempt I1.3 

3.4.5 A candidate is allowed to combine subjects of intermediate level and those at 
advanced level provided that he/she meets the following criteria. 

a) A candidate who has not yet passed I1.2 will not be allowed to attempt A1.2  and 
A1.3. 

b) A candidate who has not yet passed I1.1 will not be allowed to attempt A2.1 and 
A2.2. 

c) A candidate who has not yet passed I1.3 and I1.4 will not be allowed to attempt 
A1.2. 

3.4.6 A candidate is allowed to combine subjects of advanced  levels provided that there is 
no outstanding papers at lower levels and rule 3.4.2 is not applicable. 

3.4.7 A candidate will not be allowed to attempt advanced level papers with outstanding 
papers at foundation level (1&2). 

Note: Candidates are encouraged to complete sub levels/levels of ICPAR qualification to 
enable to them to attain intermediate certificates whih enable them to access 
employment.  

3.5          Duration of a registered Student 

3.5.1 A registered student of CPA will be required to complete the examination within a 
maximum period of fifteen (15) years provided that the candidate shall complete 

3.5.2 The CPA Foundation level 1 examination by the end of the 3rd year since registration 

3.5.3 The CPA Foundation level 2 examination by the end of the 6th year since registration 

3.5.4 The CPA Intermediate level examination by the end of the 9th year since registration 

3.5.5 The CPA advanced level 1 examination by the end of the 12th year since registration 

3.5.6 The CPA advanced level 2 examinations by the end of the 15th year since registration 
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3.5.7 ICPAR reserves the right to cancel the registration of a student who fails to complete 
the examination within the stipulated time. A student whose registration is cancelled 
under the rules in this paragraph may not be eligible for re-registration. ICPAR 
reserves the right to vary or amend the regulations. 

3.6        Annual Subscription 

3.6.1 A registered student must annually renew studentship registration on the first day 
of July. 

3.6.2 A student who fails to renew registration within three months of the renewal date will 
be deemed to have allowed the registration to lapse and may thus forego the right to 
sit the examination until the renewal position is normalised. A student who fails to 
renew the registration for three consecutive years may be removed from the register 
of students. 

3.6.3 A student who is removed from the register of students for failure to renew the 
registration may apply for re-registration provided that, if the application is accepted, 
the student shall; 

a)            Pay the registration reinstatement fee 

b)            Pay all arrears of the registration renewal fees 

3.7        Registering for an Examination Sitting 

Examination entries shall be submitted on the prescribed forms and shall be 
accepted from registered students only. Students registering for December examinations 
must be registered by 15th September of that year while the June examination entry 
deadline shall be the 15th March in that year. 

Late entries may be accepted after the closing date for registration upon payment of a late 
entry fee which shall be an additional 25% of the normal examination entry fee. Deadline for 
late registration for December examination sitting is 30th  september and 30th March for June 
examination sitting. 

3.8        Rules Governing Conduct of Students in the Examination Room 

3.8.1 Examinations Malpractice and their respective penalties   

Type of 
Malpractice  

Malpractice description  Penalties  

Intended 
cheating  

Smuggling of unauthorized 
materials in the examination 
room, for instance, pre-prepared 
answers, notes, electronic 
devises, etc.  

Nullify all the results for the 
affected candidate. The candidate 
will be totally dismissed from the 
qualification. 

In addition, the candidate will be 
published on ICPAR website 
and/or local newspapers.  
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Impersonation – cases where 
someone else writes an 
examination on behalf of the 
candidate.  

Nullify all the results for the 
affected candidate. The candidate 
will be totally dismissed from the 
qualification. 

In addition, the candidate will be 
published on ICPAR website 
and/or local newspapers. 

Assistance  Where a candidate is being assisted 
by someone in the Institution to get 
exams earlier.  

Nullify all the results. 

In addition, the candidate barred 
from writing ICPAR 
examinations for a period not 
exceeding two (2) years. 

Where a candidate submits two 
answer scripts with different hand 
writing  

Nullify all the results. In addition, 
the candidate barred from writing 
ICPAR examinations  for a   
period not exceeding two (2) 
years 

Where a candidate submits two 
answer scripts with same hand 
Writing,     some     or     all 
similar attempted questions, same 
registration number and different 
or same answers.  

Give the candidate the lowest 
mark from the two scripts 

Copying  Where one candidate copies from 
the other candidate in one 
subject/paper without the 
knowledge of the originator  

Nullify the results in 
the affected subjects 
for the Offender. 

Where one candidate copies from 
the originator who is not 
necessarily in collusion but is 
culpably negligent.  

Nullify results for both in 
the affected subject. 

Collusion Where two candidates connive to 
copy from each other in one 
subject/paper  

Nullify results in the 
affected subjects for both 
candidates 

Where two candidates have copied 
from each other in more than one 
subject/paper  

Nullify results in all 
subjects for the affected 
candidates 
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Where one candidate copies from 
the originator who is in collusion.  

Nullify results in the 
affected subjects for both 
candidates 

Widespread 
Cheating 

Where all candidates or a group 
of candidates at an examination 
centre have similar answers  

In all cases: 

§ The first time – nullify results 
for all candidates in the 
affected subjects and warn the 
centre 

§ The second time – nullify 
results for all candidates in the 
affected subjects and suspend 
the centre for period of 2 
years. 

§ The third time – nullify results 
for all candidates in the 
affected subjects and close the 
centre 

Prior knowledge 
or leakage 

 

Candidates having access to 
question papers prior to 
examination 

 

Nullify all the results and 
candidates suspended from 
writing ICPAR examinations for 
a period of two years 

Substitution 

 

Where a candidate or someone 
else removes from the tamper 
evident envelope the script 
originally submitted by the 
candidate and replaces it with 
another done by the candidate or 
another person inside or outside 
the examination room, during or 
after the period of the 
examination  

Nullify all the results and 
candidate     barred    from writing 
ICPAR examinations for a period 
of two years 

Misconduct Writing false personal details on 
the examination answer booklet 

Nullify the results in the affected 
subject and caution the candidate 

Use of abusive language - where 
the candidate write insults to the 

Examining body,   tutors,   

Caution the candidate 
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markers, etc. 

Create any kind of Conflict 
amongst peers   or   the   exams   
management team during 
examination period. 

Nullify the results in the affected 
subject and caution the candidate.  
If the conflict leads to  fighting  
the  candidate  will  be dismissed    
from    writing    ICPAR 
examinations. 

Inciting   violence   or   any   sort   
of discrimination    during   
examination period. 

Nullify the  results in  the  
affected subject   and   report   the 
case   to relevant  authorities  
with   recorded evidences. 

 

17.2 ICPAR   reserves   the  right   to  withhold   publication   of  the  results   of  an   
examination student/center  suspected  of  having  been  involved  in  any  
irregularity  or  misconduct  in connection  with an examination,  pending  the 
completion  into the  alleged  irregularity  or misconduct.  

17.3 Students  should  not  pass  any  information  or  material  from  one  to  another  
during  an  examination unless expressly authorized by the examination invigilator 
to do so.  

17.4 It is the duty of the examination invigilator to report to ICPAR all cases of 
irregularities or misconduct during an examination. Therefore, the examination 
invigilator is empowered to discontinue the student from examination suspected of 
misconduct and requires him or her to leave the examination room. Any student 
failing to comply with this regulation may be liable for such penalties as ICPAR 
may determine.   

17.5 Student should present student ID to examination invigilator when he/she is 
signing on the attendance list. Failure by student to sign on the attendance list will 
result into nullification of the results.  

17.6 Students  are  given  maximum  or  minimum  of  a  half  an  hour  to  enter  into  or  
leave the examination room respectively after the commencement of the 
examination.  

17.7 During examinations period students are allowed to go outside the examination 
room with permission from the invigilator and should be escorted.  

17.8 After  an  examination   has  begun,  students  who  leave  an  examination   room   
without permission  or  unescorted  will  not  be  allowed  to  return  until  all  other  
students  in  the examination room have finished that session’s examinations.  

17.9 In case of emergencies, students may ask for assistance from the examination 
invigilator.   
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17.10   Students  who  leave  examination  room  during  an  examination,  not  intending  
to  return, must hand in their answer scripts to the examination invigilator. Students 
may not leave a room  during  the  first  or  last  half  hour  of  any  examination  
unless  there  are  exceptional circumstances and only when permission has been 
granted by the examination invigilator.   

17.11   At the end of an examination, students must remain seated until they are 
advised by the examination invigilator to leave.  

17.12   When  a  particular  examination  is  declared  to  be  over,  students  must  stop  
writing immediately.  They will be given a short time to put together  their 
answer  booklets  and ensure the work is tied together and included in the 
appropriate envelops and sealed.   

17. In the event that, for whatever reason, the commencement or conduct of an 
examination is delayed  or  disrupted,  the  examination Chief invigilator  will  be  
entitled  to  make  such  special arrangements for the conduct of the examination 
that is appropriate and they shall, prior to action, report to ICPAR on the 
circumstances  of the case and on the special arrangements then made for the 
conduct of the examination.   

18. Publication  of  examinations  results  is  communicated  through  ICPAR  website  
and  local newspapers.  Students can   access  their  results  through  students  email  
accounts,  ICPAR student’s personal accounts and via SMS.   

3.9   Sanctions on Breach of Examination Rules  
Students are subject to ICPAR’s Disciplinary process, where they are suspected of cheating 

and a complaint is made to the Institute. Firstly the Secretary reviews the complaint and if 

he/she is of the opinion that there may be a case to answer, it then is passed to the Education 

Commission. If the Education Commission determines: -  

§ There is no prima facial evidence, it is dismissed.  

§ That the incident is very minor it is left to rest on the file  

§ That the incident is more serious it is sent for a Full Disciplinary hearing with the 

Education Commission. 

The Education Commission can issue sanctions ranging from: 

§ Making a student repeat exams ; 

§ Pay for course costs ; 

§ Pay for fines; 

§ Dismis a student from the qualification. 

Where exam time periods are breached, the student may not sit any further examinations of 

the Institute. If there has been some exceptional or extenuating circumstance that adversely 
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affected either the student’s studies or an examination itself then the student may apply for a 

“Concessionary Sitting”. 

 Any application for a concessionary sitting must: 

• Describe the exceptional or extenuating circumstance(s)  

• Describe how the circumstance(s) adversely affected the student’s Studies and/or 

examination(s) performance  

• Include relevant third party back up to the circumstances described  

• A non- refundable application fee  

Applications will be considered on a case by case basis. A concession will only be 

granted when ICPAR is satisfied:  

• That some unforeseen exceptional or extenuating circumstance(s) has/have adversely 

affected a student’s studies and/or examination(s) performance  

• That the exceptional or extenuating circumstance(s) has/have passed or been resolved. 

 Applications for such concessionary sittings may only be made in the:  

• Six week period after the issuing of the results of the first (December) diet of examinations 

in a calendar year)  

• Six week period after the issuing of the results of the second (June) diet of examinations in a 

calendar year and  

• Six week period commencing January each year. A student making an application for a 

concessionary sitting must send the case in hard copy, (including original relevant supporting 

documentation) and a signed covering letter to ICPAR.  

3.10      CPA SYLLABUS 

The syllabus as developed is the result of widespread consultation with Rwandan 
stakeholders and represents a wide range of knowledge and education, as is required for 
a professional accountant. There are eighteen papers in total, divided into  those  taken  at  
Foundation,  Intermediate  and  Advanced  levels  respectively. They together represent a 
challenging agenda for prospective accountants but one which will mean that those who have 
successfully passed the papers will have a wide and deep knowledge of the range of topics 
that are relevant to professional accountants, as well as giving employers, clients and other 
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users of accounting services increased confidence in the work of qualified accountants in 
Rwanda. The syllabus, and the associated examination process, will play a crucial part in 
increasing the credibility of the profession, and will increase the career potential of those 
who are qualified accountants as well as developing a strengthened sense of professional 
pride. 

CPA Foundation  Level 
There are two sub-levels of examinations at this level: 
Foundation Level 1 
Foundation Level 2 

 

 Foundation Level 1 
Subject Title: F1.1 Business Mathematics and Quantitative Methods 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students acquire, understand and apply quantitative 
techniques that are used in business decision-making. They develop the ability to interpret 
the information obtained and present this information in a manner appropriate to a business 
environment. 

 
Business Mathematics and Quantitative Methods as an Integral Part of the Syllabus  
This is an essential foundation subject for the professional accountant. It develops the 
mathematical and statistical competence necessary to facilitate students’ progression 
through the Foundation and Advanced Level examinations in subjects such as Financial 
Accounting, Financial Reporting, Advanced Financial Reporting, Management Accounting, 
Managerial Finance, Strategic Corporate Finance and Strategic Performance Management. 

 
Learning Outcomes  
On successful completion of this subject students should be able to: 
• Demonstrate the use of financial mathematics, measures of central tendency/ dispersion 

and indices in business. 
• Display information in a graphical/tabular form including frequency distributions, 

networks, etc. 
• Demonstrate the use of probability and confidence intervals in business. 
• Explain the concept of present value and apply discounting techniques in investment 

appraisal. 
• Apply moving averages and regression analysis in forecasting. 
• Apply matrices in analyzing markov processes and input-output analysis in 

interdependent economic set up (open Economic system)  
 
Syllabus: 
1. Introduction to Business Mathematics 

Mathematical algebra, dealing with positive and negative numbers, number line, solving 
equations.  
2.  Mathematical functions; 
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• Linear, quadratic, cubic, exponential and logarithmic equations and curves/graphs. 
• Applications of linear and Quadratic equations in business-(costs, Revenue and 

production functions). 
• Break-even analysis, revenue and profit functions and their interpretation,calculus, 

Differentiation, 1st and 2nd derivatives, local minima and local maxima, partial 
derivatives, Integration. 

3. Business statistics 
• Nature of statistics 
• Role of statistics, uses and misuses of statistics in business analysis and Decision 
making 
• Sources and types of data (primary & secondary data), nature, appreciation and 

precautions in use. 
• Sampling methods 
•  Probability Sampling Techniques (Random, systematic, stratified techniques) 
• Non Probability sampling methods (quota sampling and snowball) sampling 

techniques. 
• Presentation of data: 
§ use of barcharts, histograms, pie charts, graphs,tables, frequency distributions, 

histogram, frequency polygons, Ogive curves ( their use and interpretation). 
§ 	Levels of measurement (nominal, ordinal, interval, ratio) 
Descriptive Statistics 

Ø Measures of central tendency 
Ø Introduction What are measures of central tendency? 
Ø Arithmetic mean 
Ø Properties of Arithematical Mean 
Ø Advantages and disadvantages of mean as the average 
Ø The median 
Ø The mode  
Ø Quartiles  

          Measures of dispersion 
Ø Introduction  
Ø What are measures of dispersion 
Ø The range 
Ø Quartile deviation and what are quartiles? 
Ø Standard Deviation  
Ø Coefficient of variations  

4.  Probability and Probability Distributions 
Ø Introduction  
Ø Meaning of probability, nature of probability distributions, discrete and 

Continuous random variables, expected values. 
Ø Standard Normal Distribution, confidence intervals, z-score, T-Chi square and 

associated diagrams 
Ø Use and application of probability distributions. 
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Ø Binomial probability distribution and its application in business 
Ø Analysis of binominal populations (the probability of success p, and failure  
Ø The Poisson Probability Distribution, the Poisson population and application of 

Poisson distribution in analyzing of Poisson events. 
Ø Set theory and its relationship with probability 

 
6.   Inferential Statistics 
6.1 Hypothesis testing  
• What is hypothesis testing  
• Types of hypotheses 
• Hypothesis testing 
• Errors in hypothesis testing  
• Testing the hypothesis using the pearson correlation 
• Hypothesis testing based on the sample mean 
• Hypothesis testing using Chi-square and students t-distributions 

6.2 Simple Linear Regression-    
Ø scatter plots . 
Ø Types of linear regressions equations 
Ø Assumptions underlying linear regression 
Ø Coefficients of linear Regression Equation 
Ø Application of linear regression equations 
Ø Linear regression and hypothesis Testing 
Ø Co-efficient of determination, correlation co-efficient, rank and product moment 

correlation. Standard error of regression equation. 
Ø Multiple and linear regression  
Ø Use of linear regression equation in forecasting. 
Ø Assumptions underlying linear regression 
Ø Linear regression and Hypothesis testing  

7.           Time Series Analysis 
• Factors influencing time series. 
• Components of time series (trend, seasonal, cyclical, irregular variations). 

a. Time series forecasting using moving averages. 
b. Time series forecasting using exponential smoothing Model. 

 
8 Index Numbers 

• What are the index numbers  
• The base year 
• An index relative  
• Choice of Base 
• Uses of index numbers 
• Classification of Index Numbers 
• Prices Index Numbers and their interpretation 
• Construction of Price Index (Considerations) 
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• Methods of  Construction, Index Numbers 
a. Laspyere’s index Number 
b. Paasche’s Method 
c. Fisher’s Ideal Index Number 

• Limitations of index numbers  
9.           Network Analysis 
• Activity identification, Relationship between various elements.  
• Rules governing construction of simple networks  
• Project schedule  
• Project network 
• Construction of simple Project Networks 
• Identifying the critical path 
• Uses of the critical path 

The Gantt chart 
• Determination of critical and non-critical activities. 
• Definition and Derivation of the critical path. 
• Slack capacities under Critical Path Method  
• PERT Technique and how  it differs from CPM 
• Project Crashing 

10.         Linear Programming  
• What is linear programming? 
• The linear programming process 
• Maximization problems 
• Establishing constraint  
• Maximization problems  
• Areas of application of linear programming  
• Practical limitation 
• Simple Linear Programming and simplex algorithm 
• Transportation problem 
• Assignments problem. 
• Queuing Theory  

11.   Decision Theory 
Ø The meaning of decision theory 
Ø Environments of decision making (Certain, uncertain, risky and conflict) 
Ø Payoff and opportunity loss tables 
Ø Decision Rules/ Principles 
• Minimax, Laplace, Maximax, Savage Hurwitz,  Expected Monetary Value  and 

Expected Oportunities Loss Principles 
• Decision Trees 
• Game Theory (Types of games)  
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12. Matrix Analysis 
Types of matrices  
• Introduction  
• Types of Matrices 
• Operations on matrices (1x1, 1x2, 2x2,3x3 ) 
• Determinant of a 2x2 and 3x3 matrix 
• Application of matrices in Markov Chain Analysis 
• Application of matrices in Input output Analysis (Two factor and three factor 

economic relationship 
 

Subject Title: F1.2 Introduction to Law 
Aim 

The aim of this subject is to ensure that students have an understanding of the law relating to 
the accountant and the ability to identify problems that require the advice of a legal 
professional.  
Business Laws as an Integral Part of the Syllabus  
The legal principles learnt in this subject are relevant to students throughout their 
Professional accounting studies. In particular Introduction to Law is an essential foundation 
for the study of Company Law. 
Knowledge  gained  from  this  subject  will  also  be  particularly relevant  in  the  further  
study of Auditing, Audit  Practice and Assurance Services, Financial Accounting, Financial 
reporting, Advanced Financial reporting and Strategy and Leadership. 

Learning Outcomes  
On successful completion of this subject students should be able to: 

• Distinguish between and describe sources of law. 
• Interpret, describe and discuss aspects of the law of property . 
• Interpret, describe and discuss aspects of the law of contract and of sale of goods and 

supplies of services. 
• Interpret, describe and discuss aspects of the law relating to negotiable 

instruments and insurance. 
• Recognize if and when more specialist legal knowledge is required and 

identify the source of that expertise. 
• Describe, discuss and explain aspects of company law relating to the 

Structure of business entities and of their commercial relationships. 
• Explain emerging legal issues affecting business by citing relevant examples 

and possible remedies 
Syllabus: 
1. Nature, Purpose and Classification of Law 
• Nature and purpose of law. 
• Classification of Law 
• Law & Morality 
• Ethics and the Law  

2.           Sources of Law 
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•            The Constitution 
•            Legislation 
•            Statutes of general application 
•            Substance of common law and doctrines of equity 
•            Judicial precedent 
3.           Administrative Law 
•            Separation of Powers 
•            Natural Justice 
•            Judicial control of the Executive 
•            Administrative Legislation 
•            Arbitration 
4.           The Court System 
• Courts and tribunals: composition, jurisdiction 
• Structure, composition and jurisdiction of courts justice. 
• Subordinate Courts. 
• Contemporary issues in the court system in East Africa Community and globe              

(Technological development and individual rights, issues in corrections, ideal of equal 
justice) 

5.           Law of Persons 
•            Legal Personality 
•            Types of persons: natural person, artificial person 
•            Sole proprietorships 
•            Partnerships 
•            Unincorporated Associations 
•            Limited Companies 

 
6.           Law of Tort 

•            Nature of tortuous liability 
•            General defenses in the law of tort 
•            Negligence 
•            Nuisance 
•            Trespass 
•            Vicarious liability 
•            Occupier’s liability 
•            Limitation of action 
•            Defamation 

  
7.           Law of Contract 

• Nature of a contract 
• Classification of Contracts 
• Formation of Contracts 
• Employment contract include concepts of labor law relating to expatriates. 
• Contemporary issues in law of contract (Consideration, interpretation and 
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rectification, Good faith Illegality and the Penalties doctrine) 
• Terms of a contract, conditions, warranties and exemption clauses 
• Vitiating factors: mistake, misrepresentation, duress, undue influence, illegality, 

illegal contracts 
• Discharge of contract 
• Remedies for breach of contract 
• Limitation of actions 

 
8.           Sale of Goods 

•            Nature of the Contract 
•            Formation of the Contract 
•            Terms of the Contract  
•            Transfer of property in goods 
•            Rights and duties of the parties 
•            International contracts of sale 

 
9.           Agency 

•            Nature and creation of agency 
•            Types of Agents 
•            Authority of an agent 
•            Rights and duties of the parties 
•            Termination of agency 

 
10.         Hire Purchase 

•            Nature of the contract 
•            Formation of the contract 
•            Terms of the contract 
•            Rights and duties of the parties 
•            Termination of the hire purchase contract 

11.         Insurance 
•            Nature of the contract 
•            Formation of the contract 
•            Principles of Insurance 

12.         Negotiable Instruments 
•            Nature and characteristics 
•            Negotiability and transferability 
•            Types: cheques, promissory notes, bills of exchange 
•            Rights & Obligations of the parties 

  
13.         The Law of Property 

• Definition of property (real and personal property: movable and immovable 
property, intellectual and intangible property, trademarks, copyrights and patents) 

• Ownership of property 
• Freehold and leasehold interests 
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• Leases 
• Mortgages and charges 
• Foreclosure 
• Rights &Restrictions on another’s property 

 
Subject Title: F1.3 Financial Accounting 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students understand the role, function and basic 
principles of financial accounting and master the rules of double entry bookkeeping. They 
also develop the ability to prepare, analyze and report on financial statements for basic 
reporting entities in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
and International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS). 
 
Financial Accounting as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
The concepts and principles learnt in this subject are an essential foundation for the later 
studies of Financial Reporting, Advanced Financial Reporting, Auditing and Audit Practice 
and Assurance Services. 

Learning Outcomes 
On successful completion of this subject students should be able to: 

• Identify the users of financial accounts and explain their requirements. 
• Discuss and explain accounting  concepts and principles. 
• Apply the principles and procedures of double entry bookkeeping. 
• Prepare and present financial statements for sole traders including incomplete records, 

limited companies, partnerships and other organizations in accordance with current 
IFRS. 

•  Discuss, explain and apply the accounting treatment of non-current assets, current 
assets, events after the reporting period and contingencies in accordance with IFRS 
and IPSAS. 

• Prepare and present statements of cash flow and interpret and reconcile the 
movements in cash balances. 

• Analyze and interpret financial statements and prepare accounting information for 
management control and decision-making. 

• Prepare financial statements of public sector and Non government organizations.  
 
Syllabus: 
1.           Accounting Framework 
• Terminology, concepts, conventions. The purpose of accounting information and its 

communication. 
• Conceptual framerwork . 
• Nature, principles and scope of financial accounting and its limitations. 
• The accounting profession and the role of the accountant. 
• The ethics and independence of the accounting profession. 
• The regulatory environment. 
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• The nature, role and significance of IASs, IFRSs and IPSAS. 
• IFAC, IASB, IPSASB, Role of ICPAR in regulating accountancy profession in 

Rwanda 
2. Book-Keeping 

• Source documents e.g. quotations, purchase orders, receipts, cash vouchers etc. 
• Books of original entries e.g. sales journals, purchases journals, return inwards 

journals, return outwards journal, cash book, petty cash book and general journal 
• Double entry concept, the ledger (T-account) ,Balancing of ledger accounts and 

extraction of trial balance, Errors , Correction of errors and the suspense account. 
• Computerized accounting systems; accounting  softwares, benefits and challenges of 

computerized accounting systems 
 
3.  Accounting adjustments 

• Accruals and prepayments. 
• Bank reconciliation statement 
• Trade receivables,bad debts and allowance for doubtful debts  
• Control accounts (Trade payable and trade receivables) 

 
4. Accounting, Treatment of the following IAS’s/IFRS’s: 
• International Accounting Standards: 

- Presentation of Financial Statements IAS 1 
- Inventories IAS 2 
- Accounting Policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors IAS 8 
- Events after the balance sheet date IAS 10 
-Income tax IAS 12 ( Current tax) 
- Property, Plant & Equipment IAS 16 
-Revenue from contract with customers IFRS 15 
-Government Grants IAS 20 
- Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets IAS 37 
- Intangible Assets IAS 38 
- Investment Property IAS 40 
- Cash Flow Statements IAS 7 

5. Preparing Financial Statements for Different Forms of Business Entities 
5.1 Sole trader 

• statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
• statement of financial position 
• Incomplete record situations. 

 
5.2 Partnership 

• Partnership agreement 
• Partners current and fixed capital 
• Partnership income statement 
• Partnership statement of financial position 
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• Changes in partnership-admission of a new partner, retirement/ death of a partner  
• Changes in profit sharing ratios 
• Appropriation account 

5.3 Limited company- 
• Share capital-ordinary and preference shares 
• Issue of shares-forfeiture, re-issue 
• Reserves 
• Financial statements-income statements and statement of financial position 
• Accounting treatment of corporation tax 

5.4 Manufacturing entity 
• Nature of manufacturing entities 
• Classification of costs in manufacturing entities  
• Financial statements-manufacturing account/production statement, income statement 

and statement of financial position. 
5.5 Not for profit organization 
Nature of not for profit organizations Accounting treatment of the various funds 

• Differences between profit making entities and not for profit organizations 
• Receipts and payments account 
• Income and expenditure account 
• Statement of financial position 

 
6. Analysis of financial statements 

6.1 Statement of cash flows:preparation direct and indirect method as per IAS 7 
6.2 Financial ratios-definitions, categories, analysis, and interpretations, applications and 

limitations. 
7 Public Sector Accounting 
7.1 Government organizations/ Departments 
7.2 Regulations by IPSAS, IPSASB. Accounting techniques; PFM manual (planing, 

budgeting, cash, accrual, commitment and fund accounting etc) 
8 Emerging issues and trends financial accounting (National, Regional and Global) 

Tutors will prepare and deliver this topis according to the new current trends at the time 
of delivery. (Eg. New Accounting Standards)  

 
Subject Title: F1.4 Business Management,Ethics and Entrepreneurship  
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students have an understanding of key principles and 
concepts in Entrepreneurship and business management  and also a full understanding of 
the importance of business and professional ethics in their conduct and actions. They 
should also be aware of the skills required to be a successful entrepreneur. 
Business Management,Ethics and Entrepreneurship as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
The principles and concepts learnt in this subject are relevant to students throughout their 
professional accounting studies. 
Although there are connections with many  subjects  throughout  the  syllabus, knowledge 
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gained from this subject will also be particularly relevant in the further study of Auditing, 
Audit Practice and Assurance Services, Financial Accounting, Introduction to Law, 
Management Accounting and Strategy and Leadership.  Similarly, there is close 
relationship between communications subjects and the Information Systems paper. 
Learning Outcomes  
On successful completion of this subject students should be able to show: 

• An understanding of the core Business functions of Management  
• An understanding of how these functions affect the running of a modern business. 
• An understanding of the attributes of an effective entrepreneur. 
• An understanding of the key concepts and fundamental principles of Ethics and the 

practical application of them in the context of business and commercial activities. 
• Demonstrate an understanding of general layout of a business plan for the enterprise. 
•   Practice the requirements and principles of sound corporate governance. 
•   Enhanced communication skills, verbal and written, that allow candidates to 

disseminate information and messages clearly to a range of audiences. 
 
Syllabus: 
1.   Foundations of Business Management 
• The nature of management and its role in business 
• Management as a science, art or profession 
• Levels of management and managerial skills 
• Common business analysis techniques such as SWOT and PEST 
• The challenges that arise in the contemporary business environment and its dynamic 

nature. 
2.  Management 
The fundamental principles and theories on which business management is based. Pre – 
industrial revolution management theories, Classical theories, neo-classical theories, 
Contemporary management theories 
•  The contributions of management within a modern business organization 
•  The challenges involved in effective business management 
•  Functions of Management 
• The role of Human Resource management within the organization and the associated 
challenges that may arise. 
3. Marketing 
• The role of marketing and sales within the organization 
• The importance of customer relations, market research and marketing communications 
• The use of the internet in marketing 
• Marketing ethics 
• The different elements of the marketing mix and the role of services marketing. 

4. Governance and Change Management 
• The main elements of governance that apply to both large and small companies  
• Implementing change 
•  power and organizational politics. 
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     5.Ethics and Conflict of interest in Business 
• Ethics: meaning, theories of ethics, ethics principles. 
• Confidentiality 
• Professional judgment 
• Morality, ethics and values. 
• The concepts and principles of the ICPAR Code of Ethics and the IFAC Code of 

Ethics. 
• Disciplinary procedures of ICPAR and the consequences of a breach of the 

regulations. 
• The ethical obligations upon a person dealing with financial information, products and 

services. 
• The ethical obligations of company directors. 
• The ethical obligations of auditors. 
• Corporate social responsibility 
• Conflict of interest and market manipulation 
• Insider dealing, whistles blowing and conflict resolution mechanism. 

 
6.Entrepreneurship and self-employment 

• The definition of entrepreneurs and entrepreneurship 
• Factors to be reviewed when considering self-employment 
• The economic importance of self-employment 
• Entrepreneurship and innovation 
• Entrepreneurial characteristics 
• The role and challenges of an entrepreneur 

7.Entrepreneurial opportunities 
• Generation and sources of business ideas 
• Business incubation 
• Qualities of a good business opportunity 
• Assessing and selecting a suitable market 
• Matching skills and resources to changing technology 
• The protection of business ideas and business security issues 
• Networking 

8.Enterprise development 
• Factors and trends that influence the growth of business enterprises. 
• Business life cycles, stages and challenges faced by an entrepreneur at each stage. 
• Strategies for managing growth and transition. 
• Factors for success at each stage of development. 
• Business amalgamations for example mergers, acquisitions, franchise take-overs, 

integrations. 
• Statutory policies on enterprise development. 
• Milestones in Enterprise development 

9.Entrepreneurial awareness and motivation 
• Procedures involved in starting a business 
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• Sources of business finance, for example micro-finance 
• Legal forms of business ownership 
• Legal aspects in business: licenses, labour laws, health and safety rules 
• Business contracts and tendering procedures 
• Motivational theories of entrepreneurship. 
• Incentives for aspiring entrepreneurs. 

10.          Business plan development 
• The definition and importance of a business plan 
• The components of a business plan  
• Potential risks and mitigation measures 
• Business Work plan 

 
11 .Current issues in entrepreneurship 
• Taxation, trade exhibitions, e-commerce, globalization, outsourcing 
• Entrepreneurship Education & Training 
• Social Entrepreneurship (NFP- Not for Profit) 

 
12.Essential communication skills 

• Communication processes and barriers 
• Channels of communication 
• Types of verbal and non-verbal communication 
• The importance of listening skills, critical thinking and problem solving 

13.  Business communication 
• Meetings and interviews 
• Business correspondences: letters, memos, circulars 
• Report writing, types, structure and uses of reports 
• Postal and courier services 
• Presentations: planning, organizing/delivering business presentations 

14. Technology and communication 
• Telephone, fax 
• Email 
• Internet 
• Electronic postal services and money transfers 
• Other modern communication technologies 

15. Emerging trends in communication 
• Diversity in physical infrastructure & Higher Speed broadband networks 
• Network Management Technologies e.g. E-Security 
• Web based services and the emerging “social web” – social networking sites 

(SNS), Mobile Web, Internet TV, Cloud Computing, Virtual Identities, 
Semantic Web. 
 
 Foundation level 2 
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Subject Title: F2.1 Management Accounting 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students develop  knowledge and understanding o f   
the  various  cost  accounting  principles,  concepts  and techniques appropriate for 
planning, decision-making and control and the  ability  to  apply  these  techniques  in  the  
generation  of  management accounting reports. 
Management Accounting as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
This subject develops in students an understanding of how management accounting plays 
an integral part in the modern commercial environment, supporting entrepreneurial 
activities in both growing and established entities. It provides an essential foundation 
in the study of cost and management  accounting  and  is  a  necessary  prerequisite  to  
the  later studies in Managerial Finance, Strategic Performance Management, Strategic 
Corporate Finance and Strategy & Leadership. 
 
Learning Outcomes 

On successful completion of this subject, students should be able to: 
• Explain the relative strengths and weaknesses of alternative cost accumulation 

methods and discuss the value of management accounting information. 
• Calculate unit costs applying overhead using both traditional costing and activity 

based costing principles. 
• Apportion and allocate costs to units of production in job, batch and process costing 

systems, for the purpose of stock valuation and profit measurement. 
•  Identify and explain cost behaviour patterns and apply cost-volume profit analysis. 
•  Define and use relevant costs in a range of decision-making situations. 
•  Prepare and present budgets for planning, control and decision-making. 
•  Compute, interpret and investigate variances. 
•  Demonstrate communication skills including the ability to present quantitative and 

qualitative information, together with analysis, argument and commentary, in a form 
appropriate to the intended audience. 

 
             Syllabus  
1.            The Role of the Management Accountant 

• The nature and scope of management accounting. 
• The relationship between management accounting and financial accounting. 
• Cost classifications. 
• The role of the Management Accountant in a modern business environment 

including the recognition of possible ethical issues that may arise. 
 

2.            Cost Accumulation Systems 
•   Accounting for materials: stock valuation approaches (FIFO; LIFO and AVCO);  
EOQ; JIT concepts. 
• Accounting for Labour: remuneration methods; incentive schemes; productivity, 
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Labour turnover and Labour performance reports. 
• Accounting for Overheads:Traditional costing (Comparison of marginal costing 

and absorption costing approaches) and activity based costing  
• (ABC) approaches to overheads. 
• The preparation of integrated accounts. 

3.            Costing Methods 
• Job and batch costing. 
• Process costing for single products and the use of equivalent units calculations 

under both FIFO and Weighted Average accounting systems. 
• Process costing ledger accounts including normal and abnormal loss/gain. 
• The role of costing in non-manufacturing sectors (Service costing). 

 
4.            Information for Decision Making 

• Cost behavior patterns and identification of fixed/variable elements in a cost 
using High/Low method, scatter-graphs and regression analysis. 

• Break-even analysis and the importance of contribution. 
• Break-even chart preparation and interpretation. 
• Calculation of break-even point, margin of safety and target profit. 
• Limitations of Cost Volume Profit Analysis. 
• Relevant costing principles including committed, sunk and opportunity costs. 
• Relevant costs in decision-making. 
• Decision making with a single limiting factor/constraint. 
• Qualitative factors relevant to specific decisions. 

  
5.            Information for Planning and Control 

• The role of budgeting including alternative budgeting systems (Fixed, flexible, 
incremental and Zero Based Budgeting (ZBB)). 

• Behavioral and motivational issues in the budgetary process. 
• Functional and subsidiary budgets. 
• Standard costing: role and procedures for standard setting including different 

types of standards. 
• Variance analysis: the calculation and interpretation of basic sales/cost 

variances. Reconciliation reports. The inter-relationship and possible causes of 
variances.  (Fixed overhead capacity and efficiency variances are not 
examinable.)  

 
Subject Title: F2.2 Economics and the Business Environment 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students have a solid foundation in economics 
contributing to the development of a competent and Well-rounded member of the 
profession. This subject embraces knowledge of the sources, interpretations and 
limitations of economic/business statistics. 
Economics and the Business Environment as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
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Economics   is   an   essential   foundation   subject   for   the   professional accountant. 
This will equip students to develop their knowledge, understanding and analysis of the  
economic  environment  and  application  of economic concepts. Knowledge gained from 
this subject will be particularly relevant when studying Management Accounting, 
Managerial Finance, Strategic   Performance   Management,   Strategic   Corporate   
Finance,   and Strategy & Leadership. 
Learning Outcomes  
On  successful  completion  of  this  subject  students  should  be  able  to: 

• Explain economic concepts and terms and the i r  uses  and applications. 
• Distinguish between Economics and other fields (Sociology, Ethics…) 
• Explain the market  environment and  income determination. 
• Analyze and discuss the impact of government policy and international economic 

institutions on economic issues. 
• Apply micro economic techniques to interpret and explain business and consumer 

behavior. 
• Describe the modifying and opportunistic aspect of the particular market 

environment in which a firm operates. 
• Discuss and analyze the factors determining the contribution of various resources 

to the firm’s revenue. 
•  Explain  the  upper  and  lower  limits  to  income  determination  and  the distribution of 

economic rents. 
• Explain   the   national economic parameters within which   business  is conducted. 
• Discuss the interrelationship of the various sectors within the  economy. 
• Describe the factors governing the operation of financial institutions and the 

significance of these for economic activity. 
• Discuss the global forces that influence the open Rwandan economy. 

 
Syllabus: 

1 Concepts 
• Meaning of economics, micro and macroeconomics 
• Types of economic systems (The free enterprise, command and maximum price 

control systems) 
• Supply and demand. Elasticity of demand and supply 
• Determination of price. 
• Equilibrium. 
• Market systems and the allocation of scarce resources. 
• Concepts of cost –opportunity, fixed, variable, marginal, average. 
• Time aspect –short run, long run. 
• Aspect of size –economies and diseconomies of scale, economies of scope. 
• Implications of various elasticity concepts. 

2 Consumer behavior and Welfare Economics 
• Theory of consumer behaviour; Cardinal and ordinal approaches. Limitations of 

each approach 
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• Utility; law of diminishing marginal utility 
• Indifference curve, budget line, effects of changes in prices, income on consumer 

equilibrium and derivation of demand curve 
• Substitution and income effect, Engel curve, consumer surplus. 

3.            The Firm in the Market Place 
• The meaning and levels of Production (Primary, Secondary and Tertiary or Service 

Industries). 
• Factors of Production (Land, Labour, Capital and Entrepreneur), 
• Factor mobility and factor intensity in industries 
• Production, Revenue and cost functions (product, revenue and cost curves) 
• Total product, average and marginal product 
• Law of variable production/diminishing returns and the production stages 
• Law of return to scale, demand  and supply of factors of production, Theories of 

wage determination, Producer surplus and the concept of economic rent 
• Lorenz curve 
• Economies and diseconomies of scales both internal and external 
• The concept of profit and revenue maximization. 
• The conditions for long run profit maximization. 
• The conditions for short run profit maximization. 

4            Forms of Market 
• An understanding of the various forms of market structures – Perfect Competition, 

Monopolistic (Imperfect) Competition, Oligopoly and Monopoly. 
• Long run price/output determination for each of the above forms of market 

structure. 
• Economic efficiency in respect of each of these forms of market structure. 
• Strategic Rivalry. 
• Oligopoly and interdependence 
• Natural and strategic entry barriers 
• Kinked demand curves 

 
5.            Growth Strategies of Firms 

• Horizontal growth. 
• Vertical growth. 
• Diversified growth. 
• Growth by merger. 
• Economies of scope. 
• Profit maximization objective when management is separate from ownership. 
• Alternative theories of the firm. 

 
6.            Factor Markets and Income Determination 

• Marginal productivity theory. 
• Wage determination. 
• Rent, interest and profit. 
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• Economic rents. 
7.            The Macro-economic Environment 

• The circular flow of income. 
• Potential and actual levels of aggregate demand. 
• National Income determination in an open economy with government. 
• Interrelationship between National Income Statistics – GNP / GDP / National 

Income. Classical Economic Theory(Keynesian) 
• NNP, NNI at market price and factor cost, disposable income, income per capita 
• Accelerator and Multiplier 

8.            Government and the Macro-economy 
• Objectives of national economic policy. 
• Interaction of objectives. 
• Policy instruments. 
• Economic cycles. 
• Budget strategies. 
• Fiscal stabilizers. 
• Economic implications of direct and indirect forms of taxation within and without 

Rwandan Economy 
9.            Money and Banking 

• Development of the money economy. 
• Functions of money. 
• Credit creation by the banking sector. 
• Theories of demand for money. 
• Money multiplier. 
• Central Banking. 
• Monetary policy / Exchange rate policy. 
• Interest Rates and the macro-economy. 
• Harmonizing fiscal and monetary policy 
• IS - LM model. 

10. Unemployment and Inflation 
• Unemployment types 
• Causes and measures to curb unemployment. 
• Meaning, causes, Types of inflation, 
• Effects of inflation on the economy and the welfare of consumers 
• Ways to control inflation. 
• Relationship between inflation and unemployment 
• Phillips curve  
 

11. Global Economics 
• Law of comparative advantage. 
• Absolute advantage theory 
• Terms of trade. 
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• Restrictions to free international trade. 
• Fixed versus floating exchange rates. 
• Balance of payments. 
• The global market environment. 
• WTO and focus on developing nation, Regional integration, International 

financial institutions: IMF and World Bank. 
• Economic benefits to a firm from a global strategy. 
• The pattern of international trade flow. 
• Economic Liberalization, impacts and challenges  

 
Subject Title: F2.3 Information Systems 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is for students to develop an understanding of the role and 
application of information systems (IS) and Information Technology (IT) in the management 
and control of organizations. It provides the basis for the further development of students for 
the roles of manager, advisor, assurance provider and designer of IS and IT. 
Information Systems as an Integral Part of the Syllabus. 

This is an essential subject for the later study of Auditing, Audit Practice & Assurance 
Services and Strategy & Leadership. Students will develop their understanding of selecting 
and advising on the implementation of appropriate systems, processes, controls and solutions 
in a business environment. 
 
Learning Outcomes 

On successful completion of this subject students should be able to: 
• Explain the role of information systems in today’s competitive business 

environment. 
• Appraise and discuss the major management challenges to building and using 

information systems. 
• Recognize and discuss ethical, social, and legal issues in the design and use of 

information systems. 
• Analyze how information systems support various business strategies for 

competitive advantage. 
• Analyze and discuss the challenges posed by strategic information systems and 

management solutions. 
• Examine the role of Internet technology in facilitating management and 

coordination   of   internal   and   inter-organizational   business   processes. 
• Assess   the   challenges   posed   and   opportunities offered by electronic business 

and     electronic     commerce     and     management     solutions. 
• Identify the challenges posed and opportunities offered by data resource 

management and management solutions. 
• Evaluate the challenges of managing IT infrastructure and management 

solutions. 
• Discuss alternative methods for building information systems and alternative 
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methodologies for modeling systems. 
• Explain   what extensible   Business Reporting Language’ ( XBRL) i s  and describe 

how it improves the reliability and ease of communicating complex financial 
information among internal and external users. 

• Critically analyze Information Technology based case studies, thus incorporating 
their strategic and practical knowledge of Information Systems to real life business 
situations. 

 
Syllabus 
•  Introduction to information system  

• Defining an information system from both a technical and business perspective 
and distinguishing between computer literacy and information systems literacy. 

• The major management challenges to building and using information systems in 
organisations. 

• The Role of Information Systems in Business Today 
• Different Perspectives on Information Systems 
• Different Views of Information Systems 
• Management Challenges 

 
2.   Types of Information Systems in Business 

• Information systems supporting the major business functions: sales and 
marketing, manufacturing and production, finance and accounting, and human 
resources. 

• The relationship between organisations, information systems, and business 
processes. 

• Transaction Processing Systems. 
• Office Information Systems. 
• The functions of Information Systems. 
• Relationships between different information systems and where information      

systems are used within the firm. 
• Information systems support for business strategies for competitive advantage. 
• The challenges posed by strategic information systems and management 

solutions. 
3 .   The Digital Firm 

o Describe and discuss why information systems should be employed. 
o The	 networked	 enterprise,	 all	 benefits,	 customer	 relationship	management	

systems. 
o Evaluating	costs	and	benefits	of	information	systems. 
o The role of information systems in business strategy. 
o Information systems support in the decision making process. 
o Information systems and management issues. 
o Ethical, social, and political issues of information systems. 
o The impact of contemporary information systems and the Internet on the 
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protection of individual privacy and intellectual property. 
o The role of information systems in today’s competitive business environment 
o The impact of the Internet and Internet Technology on business and 

government. 
 

4.            Electronic Business & Mobile Commerce 
• The Internet: new information technology infrastructure for the Digital Firm. 

o Internet platforms. 
o The use of electronic business and electronic commerce. 
o Big Data information management: large volumes of data, complexity and   

Variety of data, velocity, real time data.  
o Technologies used for electronic business and electronic business models. 
o Internal and external applications of electronic business and electronic 

commerce. 
o Management issues associated with electronic business. 
o The impact of Internet Technology on value propositions and business models. 
o The impact of electronic commerce on consumer retailing and business-to                  

business transactions.  
• E-commerce, digital markets, social media, digital goods. 

o Payment systems for electronic commerce. 
o The role of Internet Technology in facilitating management and coordination 

of internal and inter- business processes. 
o The challenges posed by electronic business and electronic commerce and 

management solutions. 
o Wireless transmission media and devices, cellular network standards and 

generations,  and standards for mobile Web access. 
o M-commerce in business and m-commerce applications. 
o Wireless applications in business. 
o Cloud computing 

 
5.            Information Technology 
5.1          Computer Hardware 

• The stages of IT infrastructure evolution. 
• The technology drivers of IT infrastructure evolution. 
• Contemporary computer hardware platform trends. 
• The components of a computer system. 
• Computer processing, storage, input and output technology. 
• Types and classifications of computer systems. 
• Managing hardware assets. 
• Managing IT infrastructure and management solutions. 

5.2          Computer Software 
• Operating systems. 
• Application software packages. 
• Programming languages. 
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• Managing software assets. 
• Contemporary software platform trends. 
• Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL). 

 
 5.3     Telecommunications and Networks 

• Components and functions of telecommunication systems. 
• Communication networks. 
• E-Business and e-Commerce technologies. 
• Networking/telecommunication platforms. 
• Consulting and system integration services. 

 
5.4          Database and File  

• The file approach. 
• The database management systems (DBMS) approach. 
• Database management systems (DBMS) vs. file methods. 
• Types of databases. 
• Database purchase issues. 
• Database design & maintenance issues. 
• Database design principles. 
• Database trends. 
• Managing data resources and management solutions. 

6.         Organizational Support Systems 
6.1       Knowledge Based Systems 

• Knowledge Based Systems. Remote working, hot desking. 
• The flow of Knowledge Management; Managing knowledge, enhancing internal 

and external relationships 
• The control of Knowledge Management. 
• Geographically dispersed (virtual) teams; role of information systems in virtual 

teams and challenges for virtual collaboration. 
6.2       Management Decision Support Tools           

• Decision Support Systems. 
• Group Decision Support Systems. 
• Executive Support Systems. 
• Knowledge Working 

 
7.         Information System Development 

o The System Development Life Cycle (SDLC). 
o Alternatives to SDLC e.g. Prototyping, RADE, etc. 
o System development and management considerations. 
o The impact of building new systems on organizational change. 
o Developing information systems that support an organization’s business plan. 
o The core activities in the systems development process. 
o Alternative methods for building information systems and alternative 
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methodologies for modeling systems. 
o The challenges of building information systems and management solutions. 
o System changeover methods (i.e. direct, parallel, pilot and phased).     
o Information system implementation as a change management process;           
o Avoiding problems of non-usage and resistance. 
o Business process re-engineering 

 
8.         Feasibility Study & Business Value of Systems 

• Aims, objectives, problem identification, responsibilities, planning, 
management and lifecycle. 

• Information system outsourcing (different types of sourcing strategies; client-
vendor relationships). 

• Cost benefit analysis and final outputs. 
• Models for understanding the business value of information systems. 
• Change management requirements for building successful systems. 
• System changeover methods (i.e. direct, parallel, pilot phased). 
• Information system implementation as a change management process; 

avoiding problems of non-usage and resistance. 
9.         System Security and Control 

• The need for special protection from destruction, error, and abuse of 
information  systems. 

• The business value of security and control. 
• Organizational and managerial frameworks for security and control. 
• System vulnerability and abuse. 
• Preventative maintenance techniques and security controls. 
• Disaster recovery planning. 
• Quality control and quality assurance. 
• Tools and technologies for safeguarding information resources. 
• Identify the challenges posed by information systems security and control and 

management solutions. 
10   Contemporary issues in management information systems 

• Management information systems ethical and social concerns,  moral dimension of 
management information systems and  

• legal issues in management information system 
• Terrorism , Money Laundering and E-Commerce- Challenges  

 
 

 
Subject Title: F2.4Taxation 
Aims 
The aim of this subject is that students develop a knowledge  and understanding of the 
workings of the tax system under the specified tax heads. This knowledge is applied in the 
calculation of tax liabilities and the identification of basic tax saving measures. 
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Taxations an Integral Part of the Syllabus. 
Taxation is an essential component for the later study of Advanced  taxation.Knowledge gained 
from this subject will also be relevant in the further study of Auditing, Audit Practice and 
Assurance Services, Managerial Finance and Strategic Corporate Finance. 
 
Learning Outcomes and syllabus 
On successful completion of this subject students should be able to: 

• Understand different theories of taxation and its application in government 
budget. 

•    Prepare income tax computations and returns 
•  Understand and apply the different tax recovery procedures 
•    Describe the operation of VAT and prepare VAT returns 
•    Describe customs taxes and excise taxes 
•    Describe and apply Capital Deductions 
• Describe and compute different taxes under decentralized entities 

 
Syllabus: 
1.           Theory of Taxation 

•            Why governments levy taxes 
•            Principles of an optimal tax system 
•            Classification of taxes 
•            Incidence of taxes 
•            Taxable capacity 
•            Budgetary objectives 
•            Role of taxation in achieving budgetary objectives 
•            Fiscal policy reforms and their impact on government 
•            Revenue, expenditure and economic activities 

 
2. Taxation of Income of Persons 

2.1 personal income tax (PIT) 
•  Sources of taxable Incomes ( employment income ,investment income and business 
income) 
•    Non- taxable incomes 
• Taxable and non-taxable individual 
•            Allowable and non-allowable deductions 
• Tax deficits 
•  Tax computations 
 

 
2.2 corporate income tax (CIT) 

             Taxable and non-taxable institutions 
•    Tax rates: Relief and withholding taxes 
•   Taxation of partnerships and corporate entities 
•            Allowable and non-allowable deductions 
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•            Tax deficits 
•            Tax computations 
•            Application of Case Law 

 
3.           Capital Deductions 

•            Investment deduction 
•            Wear &Tear Allowances 
•            Other deductions 
•            Application of Case Law 

  
4.           Taxation procedures – Administration of Income Tax 

•            Identification of new taxpayers 
•            Tax assessments, self-assessment, and additional assessments and estimated  
               assessment 
•            Remittance of tax: Installment tax and final tax 
•            Tax audit and investigation  
•            Objection, appeals and relief of mistake 
•            Appellant bodies 
•            Collection and recovery of taxes 
•            Refund of taxes and waivers 
•            Offences, fines, penalties and interest 
•            Application of Case law 

 
5.           Administration of Value Added Tax 

•            Introduction and development of VAT in a country 
•            Classification of taxable goods and services 
•            Exempt supplies 
•            Registration and de-registration of taxable persons 
•            Rights and privileges of a VAT registered person 
•            Accounting for VAT, taxable value, time of supply 
•            Charge of tax, deductions of input tax 
•            Apportionment method of input tax 
•            VAT records 
•            VAT due for payment/credit 
•            Remission, rebate and refund of VAT 
•            Collection and recovery of tax 
•            Offences, penalties and interest 
•            Requirements of objections and appeals 
•            Compliance management: reconciliation of returns and compliance checks 

 
6.           Administration of customs taxes and excise taxes 

•            Customs procedures 
•            Tax powers and rights to revenue 
•            Import and export duties 
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•            Goods subject to customs control 
•            Valuation of imports and exports 
•            Prohibitions and restriction measures 
•            Transit goods and bond securities 
•            Excisable Goods 
•            East African Community Customs Management Act 

  
7.           Taxation of specific sources of Income (WHT) 

•            Dividends 
•            Interest 
•            Royalties 
•            Other gains or profits  

8.           Other Revenue Sources 
•            Miscellaneous revenue sources, inspection charges, 
•            Trade licenses, airport taxes, stamp duties, property rates, petroleum levy,  
              Sugar levy, betting and gaming tax. 
•            New taxes, levies and charges 

9. Taxes and fees of decentralized entities  
• Fees  
• Immovable property tax 
• Trading licences 
• Rental income  

 
10. Emerging Issues  

Tutors will prepare and deliver this topis according to the new current trends at the time 
of delivery. (Eg. New Investment Incetives)  

 
CPA Intermediate Level Syllabus 
 
There is one level  of examinations at this level: 
• Intermediate (I1) 
 

    Intermediate Level 
   Subject Title: I1.1 Managerial Finance  
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students understand the nature and scope of 
financial management.  They should be able to assess an entity’s funding requirements, 
calculate the cost of the available sources of finance, and advise on the optimum financing 
structure for an entity. 
Students should be able to evaluate the role of, and apply, corporate planning and 
budgetary control techniques.  They are also expected to demonstrate excellent written 
communication skills and the ability to integrate learning from the syllabus of this unit and 
other subjects. 
   Managerial Finance as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
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Managerial Finance develops the knowledge of students with respect to the financial 
management of organizations and builds on the Foundation 2 Stage Management 
Accounting subject. This subject is an essential under-pinning for Strategic Corporate 
Finance, Strategic Performance Management and Strategy & Leadership at Advanced level 2 . 
Learning Outcomes 

On successful completion of this subject students should be able to: 
 
•        Interpret, and critically appraise corporate objectives (including shareholder value, 

stakeholder value, value creation, investment policy and long and short-term 
financing); 

• Analyze  and  evaluate  the  main  financial  management  decisions  of  a 
company (including investment decision, working capital management, financing 
decision and dividend decisions). 

•        Describe   and   discuss   the   relationship   between   risk   and   return   and 
demonstrate its application to portfolio theory and the Capital Asset Pricing Model 
(CAPM). 

•         Apply,   evaluate   and   compare   common   business   valuation   models. 
   •       Evaluate  the  role  of  corporate  planning  and  budgetary  control  as  key elements             
in managerial  finance including  the  preparation  and  utilization  of performance       
measurement statements. 
•      Prepare and present quantitative and qualitative information for management     
decision-making integrating analysis, argument, and commentary in a form appropriate to 
the intended audience. 
 
Syllabus: 
1.    Financial Environment 

• Aims and objectives of profit seeking and non-profit seeking organizations.  
• The interrelationship between financial management, management  Accounting and 

financial accounting. 
•          Interests and influence of key stakeholder groups (Agency Problem). 

2. source of finance   
• Short term source of finance. 
• Debt financing ( types of debt ,loan amortization) and associated risks. 
• Equity financing (the nature and importance of internally generated funds,type of 

share capital ,warrants ,bonus and right issues). 
• The nature and role of capital markets,  
• Sources of government finance including: grants, national aid schemes, tax Incentives 

etc.  
• Venture capital financing, nature, benefits and risks. 

 
3.           Cost of Funds 
• Meaning and assumptions of cost of capital 
• Classification of cost of capital 
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• Arguments for cost of capital 
      Computations of cost of capital: 

• Cost of equity  
• cost of debenture- redeemable ,irredeemable and convertible debentures 
• cost of preferred stock 
• Measurement of overall cost of capital (WACC), application and interpretation. 

 
4.       Capital Structure   
• Review of factors affecting capital structure  
• Theories underlying capital structure (NOI, NI, Traditional approach, MM 

Approaches) 
5.      Capital Budgeting 
• Need for capital budgeting 
• Capital budgeting process  
• Identification of relevant cash flows. 
• Estimation of investments cash flows 
• Capital budgeting valuation techniques: 
a) Pay-back period 
b) Post pay –back profitability method 
c) Profitability index  
d)  Accounting rate of return. 
e) Modified pay back period 

f)  NPV and IRR Techniques  
g) Adjusted present value techniques 
h) The effects of inflation, taxation and capital rationing on the investment  decision 
• Risk and Uncertainty in Capital Budgeting 
• Lease or buy decisions. 
• Replacement decision 
5. Working Capital Management 

Concept of Working Capital: 
ü Gross working capital 
ü Networking capital 

• Types of working capital: 
ü Temporary W.C  
ü Permanent W.C 
ü Semi- Variable Working Capital 
ü Sources of working capital 

• Factors influencing working capital management 
• Working capital policies and strategies- Conservative/Aggressive/Hedging- Matching  
• The operating cycle and determination of working capital 
• Working capital ratios 
• Overtrading - symptoms, causes and remedies. 
• Inventory management (EOQ, EBQ, and JIT). 
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• Cash management. 
• Debtor and creditor management:  terms of credit, credit evaluation,settlement 

discounts, debt collection techniques, factoring and invoice Discounting. 
7. Portfolio Theory  

• Introduction to risk management (types of risks and risk management process) 
• Portfolio diversification (Systematic and unsystematic risk)  
• Portfolio theory and its application in practical financial management. 
• Calculate and interpret the risk and return of a two asset portfolio. 
• Markowtz portifolio theory  
• Security pricing: CAPM and APT (Assumptions and there Application)  
• Efficient Frontier and Capital market line 

 
8.  Corporate Dividend Policy and Strategy;  
• Factors determining dividends policy 
• Forms of dividends 
• The value of dividends  
• Dividends Theories/Models 
• Walter’s Model, 

a) Gordon’s Model 
b) The Dividend-Irrelevance Theory and Company Valuation (MM Theory) 
c) Factors affecting dividends payouts 

9. Business Valuations 
• Methods of valuing a business, including: 

                –            Asset bases. 
                –            Earnings bases. 
                –            Discounted cash flow. 

 
10 . Emerging issues in Financial Management 

            
 
Subject Title: I1.2 Financial Reporting  
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students have the technical knowledge and 
understanding of how to account for transactions and prepare financial statements for both 
single entities and groups, in accordance with international financial reporting standards. 
Financial reporting as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
Financial reporting develops the concepts covered in Financial Accounting and provides 
students with the appropriate context to develop their technical skills. It is an essential 
underpinning for the later study of Advanced Financial Reporting and Audit Practice & 
Assurance Services. 
 
Learning Outcomes 
On successful completion of this subject students should be able to: 
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•    Prepare the financial statements of companies and groups of companies in accordance 
with current international financial reporting standards and national legislation, including: 

–             Statements of Comprehensive Income, 
–             Statements of Financial Position 
–             Statements of Changes in Equity, and 
–             Statements of Cash flow. 

•    Prepare notes to financial statements in accordance with current international financial          
reporting standards and national legislation. 
• Discuss, explain and apply the methods of accounting for business 

combinations; and 
• Interpret financial statements and prepare reports tailored to each user group’s 

technical knowledge and understanding of such statements. 
 
Syllabus: 

1. Conceptual framework for financial reporting  
• Objectives of financial statements  
• Qualitative characteristics of financial information  
• Financial statements and reporting entity   
• Elements of financial statements  
• Recorginition and derecognition  
• Measurements 
• Presentation and disclosure  
• Concept of capital ,capital mentainance and determination of profit 

 
2. Relevant International Accounting Standards & International Financial 

Reporting Standards: 
• Presentation of Financial Statements IAS 1  
• Property, Plant & Equipment              IAS 16 
• Accounting Government Grants & Disclosure of Government Assistance IAS 20  
•  Leases IFRS 16  
• Investment Property IAS 40  
• Intangible Assets       IAS 38 
• Inventories                 IAS 2  
• Provisions, Contingent Liabilities & Contingent Assets IAS 37  
• Events after the Reporting Period IAS 10  
• Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates & Errors IAS 8  
• The effects of changes in Foreign Exchange Rates IAS 21 
• Cash Flow Statements     IAS 7  
• Revenue from contracts with customers IFRS 15 
•  Earnings Per Share    IAS 33 
•  Borrowing cost      IAS 23               
• Income Taxes    IAS 12  
•  Financial Instruments (IAS 32,IFRS 9 ,IFRS 7) 
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• First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS 1  
• Interim Financial Reporting  IAS 34  
• Agriculture   IAS 41 
• Operating Segments IFRS 8  
• Impairment of assets  IAS 36  

 
3.  Company Accounts 

Preparation and presentation of financial statements to comply with the relevant 
Rwandan legislation and IFRS, this should focus on both accounting for: 

• Large Listed Entities 
• Branch Accounts 
• Co-Operatives and small businesses 
• Accounting for Banks & Other Financial Institutions 
• Accounting for Insurance Companies 
• Accounting for Agri-business (Farm Accounts) 
• Accounting for Consignments & Other Agency Selling 
• Accounting for bankruptcies and liquidations         

 
4.  Group Accounts and Business Combinations  
• Applicable standards  (IAS 27,IAS 28 IFRS 3 ,IFRS 10 ,IFRS 11and IFRS 13) 
• Consolidated statements of financial position, consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income, including reserve reconciliations, consolidated 
statements of cash flow, acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and 
associates (both domestic and overseas) during the year. 

          •   Takeover of sole traders. 
• Accounting treatements of associate and joint ventures 

 
5 .    Interpretation of Financial Statements  
•     Ratio analysis, cash flow analysis, and the preparation of reports thereon. 

 
6.     Public sector financial reporting 
The   broad   reporting   requirements   of   the   Rwandan   government   in accordance  
with  the  relevant  Rwandan  law  (this  should  include  recent developments such as the 
evolution of an Organic Law on Finances and Asset  which  is  in  preparation  if  
completed  in  time  for  the  syllabus). 
• Broad understanding of the content of the Finance &  Accounting 
• Regulations Manual 
• The international standard setting process and IPSAS 

7.Emerging issues in financial reporting  
  
Tutors will prepare and deliver this topis according to the new current trends at the time of 
delivery. (Eg. New Accounting standards and prouncements)  
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Subject Title: I1.3 – Company Law 
Aim 
This subject aims to ensure that students understand the key aspects of business and 
commercial law to business organizations and recognize issues that require advice of a 
legal professional. In addition they must understand, apply and advise on the regulatory and 
governance requirements applicable to business organizations. 
Company Law as an Integral Part of the Syllabus. 
The legal principles learnt in this subject will be relevant to students throughout their 
professional accountancy studies. In particular this subject is an integral component for the 
study of Financial reporting, Managerial Finance, Auditing, Advanced Financial reporting, 
Advanced Corporate Finance and Audit Practice& Assurance Services. 
Learning Outcomes 
On successful completion of this subject students should be able to:- 
•            Understand how to form a company 
•            Distinguish between companies and other business organizations 
•            Understand appointment of Directors, Secretary, and Auditor 
•            Understand Company Accounts 
•            Understand procedures to be applied to Corporate Insolvency 
•            Understand and apply alternative procedures to winding up 

 
Syllabus: 
1.           Introduction to Company Law 
•            Nature & Classification of Companies 
•            Forms of business organizations 
•            Distinction between companies and other business organizations 
•            Law relating to other business organizations such as co-operative societies 
2.           Registration of a Company 
•            Memorandum and Articles of Association 
•            Promoters 
•            Legal consequences of incorporation 
3.           Share Capital 
•            Types of Share Capital 
•            Raising Share Capital 
•            Variation of shareholders’ rights 
•            Prospectuses 
•            Alteration, maintenance and reduction of capital 
•            The acquisition and redemption by a company of its own shares 
•            Financial assistance by a company for purchase of its own shares 
•            Dividends 
 
4.           Debt Capital 
•            Debentures 
•            Charges 
•            Registration of charges 
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•            Remedies for debenture holders 
•            Borrowing powers of a company 

 
5. Membership of a company 

•            Ways of becoming a member 
•            Register of members 
•            Rights and liabilities of members 
•            Termination of membership 
6.           Shares 
•            Classes of shares 
•            Issue and Allotment 
•            Transfer and transmission 
•            Mortgage of Shares 
•            Share Warrant 
7.           Meetings 
•            Classification of Meetings 
•            Notice of Meetings 
•            Agenda 
•            Proxies 
•            Quorum 
•            Proceedings at the meeting 
•            Resolutions 
•            Minutes 
 
8.           Directors 
•            Appointment of directors 
•            Qualification, disqualification and removal of directors 
•            Powers and duties of directors 
•            Compensation for loss of office 
•            Loans to directors 
•            Register of directors 
•            Disclosure of directors’ interests in contracts 
•            The Turquand’s rule 
•            Investor Protection 
•            Insider Dealing 

 
9.           The Secretary 
•            Qualification, Appointment and removal 
•            Position and duties 
•            Liability of a secretary 
•            Removal of a secretary 
•            Register of directors and secretary 

 
 



49CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT EXAMINATION SYLLABUS
JANUARY 2020

49	

	

10.         Auditors 
•            Qualification, appointment and removal 
•            Remuneration of auditors 
•            Powers and duties 
•            Vacation of office 
 
11.         Company Accounts, Audit and Inspection 
•            Form and content of accounts 
•            Books of account 
•            Group Accounts 
•            Directors’ report 
•            Auditor’s report 
•            Investigation by the registrar 
•            Appointment and powers of inspectors 
•            Inspector’s report 

  
12.         Corporate Insolvency 
•            Winding up by court 
•            Voluntary winding up 
•            Liquidators: Appointment and duties 
•            Release of liquidators 
•            Offences relating to liquidation 

 
13.         Alternatives to winding up 
•            Reconstruction 
•            Amalgamation 
•            Mergers and takeover 
•            Schemes of arrangement 
•            Rights of shareholders 
•            Rights of creditors 
  

 
Subject Title: I1.4 Auditing 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to introduce students to the concepts and principles of the audit 
process and to develop their understanding of its application in the context of the legal, 
regulatory and ethical framework of the profession. 
 
Auditing as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
Auditing is an essential foundation subject for the subsequent study of Audit Practice and 
Assurance Services at Advanced level 1. It is also an essential component for the study of 
Advanced Financial reporting at Advanced level 1. In carrying out the audit of an entity’s 
financial statements there is a critical need to identify the source, and test the treatment of 
financial statements (period transactions and year-end balances) and disclosures, t o  
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ensure compliance with reporting framework .  
Financial Accounting and financial reporting will provide students with this necessary   
knowledge.   Introduction   to   Law, Company Law, Taxation and Information Systems will 
increase students’ awareness of other matters that an auditor must consider in the audit 
process. 
Learning Outcomes 
On  successful  completion  of  this  subject  students  should  be  able  to: 

• Interpret and discuss the legal, regulatory and ethical framework within which 
the auditor operates. 

• Differentiate and explain the respective responsibilities of directors and 
auditors. 

• Explain the nature, purpose and scope of an audit and discuss and defend the role 
of the auditor. 

• Apply and explain the process relating to the acceptance and retention of  
Professional appointments, including  the purpose and content of   engagement Letter. 
• Devise    an    overall    audit    strategy    and    develop    an    audit    plan. 
• Supervise and review the various stages of the audit process. 
• Outline  the  nature  of  internal  controls  and  the  procedures  required  to evaluate   

control  risk  relating  to  specific accounting  systems,  in  order  to identify 
internal controls and weakness within the systems. 

• Distinguish between Tests of Control and Substantive Procedures. 
• Design  and  apply  the  appropriate  audit  tests  to  include  in  the  audit  

programme. 
• Carry out analytical procedures and assess the implications of the outcome. 
• Explain the significance, purpose and content of management letters and management 

representations. 
• Explain the distinction between an internal and external audit. 
• Apply and discuss audit sampling. 
• Demonstrate the outcome and implications of subsequent event reviews. 
• Plan and describe the audit of computer information systems. 
• Draw appropriate conclusions leading to the formulation of the auditor’s opinion. 
• Apply and explain the basic component elements of the Auditor’s Report. 
• Identify and analyze matters that impact on the wording of Modified Reports, 

differentiating between matters that do not affect the auditor’s opinion, and 
matters that do affect the auditor’s opinion. 

• Recognize ethical issues, discuss, escalate or resolve these as appropriate within 
the Institute’s ethical framework, demonstrating integrity, objectivity, 
independence and professional skepticism. 

   Syllabus: 
1.            The Auditor and the Audit Environment 
• The Statutory Audit:  need, objective, focus, nature and  structure.  Public interest, 

expectations, interrelationships between   auditor, directors’ (management) and 
shareholders and other users of financial statements, including their respective 
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roles and the auditor’s duties to these parties. 
• The Rwandan audit profession  and  ICPAR regulation. 
• International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and other technical pronouncements   

issued   by   APB:   nature,   formulation, issuance   and   compliance enforcement. 
• The audit implications of International Accounting Standards (IFRS/IAS): 

understanding and basis for application. 
• Directors’   responsibilities   versus   auditor’s   responsibilities   for   financial 

statements and internal controls; distinction between external and internal audit. 
• Corporate governance. 

 
2.            Auditor’s Legal, Ethical and Professional Responsibilities 
•             Professional ethical responsibilities: 

–  IFAC Code of Ethics. 
•             Statutory responsibilities and rights: 

ü Key responsibilities derived from International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
ü Auditor’s responsibility in relation to fraud and for the entity’s compliance 

with laws and regulations. 
ü Auditor’s responsibilities defined by case law arising from alleged negligence 

(financial statements misstated) and related exposure and consequences 
ü Pre-appointment procedures: client assessment (including management 

integrity) and completion of engagement letter. 
 
3.            Audit Planning and Supervision 

• Materiality: nature (quantitative and qualitative), determination, impact and 
use throughout different phases of the audit. 

• Audit risk and its components (inherent, control and detection risks): inter-
relationships, evolution as audit progresses and impact on nature, timing and 
extent of audit work. 

• Audit strategies (risk based auditing, tests of control, substantive procedures, 
combined procedures, audit around and through computerized systems) and 
their impact on the conduct of the audit. 

• Knowledge of the entity and its environment: business, risks, management, 
and accounting systems. 

• Nature, extent and timing of audit procedures in response to assessed risks of 
material misstatement, sufficient and appropriate audit evidence, types of audit 
evidence, general audit techniques (enquiry, observation, inspection, analysis, 
computation, confirmation). 

• Audit planning memo, audit programmes and working papers. 
• Audit supervision and review. 

 
4.             Audit Execution: Internal Control, Assessing Control Risk and Tests of  
                Control 

• Entity’s control environment and control procedures, objectives, limitations, 
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attitudes. 
• Auditor’s and management respective responsibilities. 
• Internal control descriptions (flowcharts, narrative descriptions, walkthroughs) 

and internal control assessments (ICEs/ICEQs). 
• Broad approach to internal controls, components of internal controls, 

limitations of internal control 
• Assessing the Risk of Material Misstatement, Internal Controls assessment and 

Tests of Control for the following major systems: sales, purchases, payroll, 
cash receipts and disbursements, inventory. 

• Audit Programmes for Tests of Control. 
• Final Assessment of Control Risk. 
• Management letter reporting and assessment of impact on audit strategy. 

 
5.            Audit Execution: Financial Statement Items Substantive Procedures. 
Application of specific substantive procedures to test the following categories of assertions: 
 

–             Assertions relating to classes of transactions and events; 
–             Assertions relating to account balances; 
–             Assertions relating to presentation and disclosure. 

Audit of statements of financial position, validation procedures, applied in audit of: 
–             Tangible fixed assets. 
–             Inventory. 
–             Accounts receivable, prepayments & sundry debtors. 
–             Investments and market securities. 
–             Bank and cash balances. 
-         Accounts Payable, accruals & sundry creditors, provisions for 
liabilities. 
–             Debenture loans and bank borrowings. 
–             Capital and Reserves, Equity. 

Audit of statements of comprehensive Income account, validation procedures, applied in 
audit of: 

–             Revenues and expenses. 
–             Sales/purchases. 
–             Wages and salaries. 
–             Other statement of comprehensive income account items. 

•             Understanding of IFRS/IAS concerning above items. 
•             Misstatements / aggregation / assessment / impact on audit reporting. 

 
6.            Audit Execution: Other Considerations 
• Sampling methods: decision to use, judgmental versus statistical (MUS) sampling 

methods for controls and financial statement items, sample selection and 
assessment. 

• Analytical review: nature and use (financial statements/data) throughout  audit. 
Ø Going concern and its impact throughout the different phases of the audit. 
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Ø Subsequent events. 
Ø Accounting estimates. 
Ø Commitments and contingencies. 
Ø Management representation letters. 
Ø Use of experts. 

 
7.            Audit Execution: Computer Information Systems (CIS) Auditing 
•             Entity’s computer systems and controls: 

– Computer systems: general applications of e-commerce and impact on control and 
audit work, key computer processes including data organization and access, network 
and electronic transfers and transaction processing modes, key computer system 
hardware and software, including XBRL. 
– Key computer system general controls: design and implementation, data integrity, 
privacy and security, system program changes, system access and disaster recovery 
plans. 
– Key computer system application controls: transactions input, processing and 
output, master-file changes. 

•             Computer Assisted Audit Techniques (CAATS): 
– Nature (computer software including expert systems and test data), 
– Purpose (testing, administration), 
– Application and related audit concerns (integrity and security of 
CAATs, audit planning considerations) 

 
8.            Audit Reporting 
•             Reporting on Audited Financial Statements. 
•             Key concepts: opinion, true and fair view, materiality, and statutory requirements. 
•             Basic elements of the Auditor’s Report. 
•             Modified Reports, differentiating between 

–             Matters that do not affect the auditor’s opinion, and 
–             Matters that do affect the auditor’s opinion. 

•             Circumstances giving rise to Modified Reports: 
–             Limitations on Scope. 
–             Disagreements with management. 

•             Auditor’s responsibility before and after the date of the Auditor’s Report. 
•             Auditor’s responsibility for other information in documents (e.g. Annual Report) 
containing audited financial statements. 

 
9.            Public sector auditing 
•             The role of the OAG 
•             The legal environment in which the OAG and auditees’ function 
•             Specific considerations for public sector auditing 
•             The role of INTOSAI 

 
9. Emerging Issues  
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Tutors will prepare and deliver this topis according to the new current trends at the time 
of delivery. (Eg. New Auditing standards and prouncements)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
CPA Advanced Level  
There are two sub-level  of examinations at this level: 
Advanced Level 1 
Advanced Level 2 
  

Advanced Level 1 
 
Subject Title: A1.1 Strategy & Leadership 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to provide students with the ability to contribute effectively to the 
strategic management of enterprises through the  objective analysis of business situations, 
the critical evaluation of strategic options and the implementation of change programmes. 
Strategy & Leadership as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
Strategy & Leadership integrates and expands the knowledge acquired in many of the subjects 
at the earlier examination levels. This subject provides a framework for future leaders to 
analyze, develop and implement strategies for entrepreneurial activities in both growing and 
established entities. 
Learning Outcomes 
On  successful  completion  of  this  subject  students  should  be  able  to: 

• Display a detailed understanding of strategic development, marketing and market 
place strategy. 

• Integrate and apply theories and concepts from strategic management and related 
disciplines effectively to solve business problems in complex and diverse 
situations. 

• Identify, develop and lead appropriate business strategies, in support of 
entrepreneurial activities and existing  (this will include the public sector). 

• Evaluate    the    importance    of    knowledge    management    in    strategy 
implementation, and advice on the implementation of appropriate systems, 
processes and solutions. 

•           Develop and promote a business case. 
•           Initiate and lead complex projects successfully. 
•           Communicate effectively to a variety of audiences 

 
Syllabus: 
 
1. The Strategy Process 
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• The Concept of Strategy: Levels of strategy and planning, Setting mission, aims, 
goals & objectives, Matching strategy and structure, The competitive environment, 
Ethical, political & social considerations. 

• Strategic Management and Operational Management. 
• Perspectives on Strategy, deliberate and emergent strategy. 
• The Marketing Dimension, Marketing management concepts, Analyzing marketing 

opportunities, Market segmentation, The marketing mix, Strategic planning and 
marketing management, Market place models. 

2. The Strategic Position 
• Environmental Analysis, The macro environment, Industry/Sector analysis, Market 

analysis, Opportunities & threats. 
• Assessing Strategic Capability, Critical success factors, (Tangible and intangible 

resources evaluation)  
• Measuring Stakeholder Expectations, Corporate governance, Stakeholder analysis, 

Identifying stakeholder expectations, Business ethics, and Cultural considerations. 
• Assessing Strategic Capability, Critical success factors, Assessing resources 

(Porters five Force Competitive Model) 
3. Strategic Choices 

• Corporate Level, Portfolio manager, Corporate core competencies, Manager, 
Restructurer, Synergy manager, Parental developer, The Corporate Portfolio, The 
Growth/Share Matrix, The Directional Policy Matrix, The Relatedness Matrix, 
Corporate Diversification.( Application of Ansoff Model) 

• Measuring Stakeholder Expectations, Corporate governance, Stakeholder analysis, 
Identifying stakeholder expectations, Business ethics, and Cultural considerations. 

• Business Level: Bases of competitive advantage (Price, differentiation, etc.)., 
Sustaining competitive advantage, Game theory, Competition and collaboration, 
Value Innovation, Business ecosystems, Business case development,  Supporting the 
entrepreneur & New Venture Creation. 

• Strategy Development: Directions, Methods, Success criteria. 
4. Strategy Implementation 

• Structure and Processes: Organization structure, Planning & control systems (include. 
ERP, Balanced Scorecard), Market mechanisms, Social/cultural process. 

• Managing Key Enablers: People, H.R. Management, Organizational Behavior, 
Leadership, Culture change, Knowledge creation, Information & Technology, 
Knowledge management. 

•  Managing the Change Process. Change management: Analyzing the change situation, 
the nature of change, Changing organizational culture, Organizational 
communications 

• Project management. 
ü Project objective and scope. 
ü Project teams, sponsors and responsibilities. 
ü Project timeline and milestones. 
ü Allocation of resources. 
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ü Critical path analysis. 
ü Project reporting procedures. 
ü Project monitoring and evaluation. 
6. Post strategy evaluation 
The reasons for conducting post evaluation 
Considerations: Specific goals, specific time frame, and measurability of goals) 
Methods of evaluation: Observation and feedback, Calculating Return on investment, 
Return On Objective –ROO. 

 
Subject Title: A1.2 Audit Practice & Assurance Services 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students can demonstrate the knowledge,  skills  
and  competencies  necessary  to  carry  out  the  audit  of an entity and undertake assurance 
engagements, having due regard to the Institute’s and  profession’s  ethical standards in a 
changing  and  complex business environment. 
 
Audit Practice and Assurance Services as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
In carrying out the audit of an entity’s financial statements it is essential to fully 
understand the application of the relevant International Standards in Auditing (ISAs), 
International Accounting Standards (IASs) and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). Many issues that face auditors frequently arise from the   accounting   
treatment   of   certain   financial transactions in the financial statements  of  the entity. The  
study  of  the  subject  Auditing  at  Intermediate level is  an  essential foundation  for  the  
study  of  Audit  Practice  and  Assurance  Services  at  Advanced  level 1. Financial    
Accounting   and    Information   Systems (at Foundation level 2)   and   Financial   
reporting   and   Company   Law  (at Intermediate  level )  are  also  essential  prerequisites  
for  the  study  of Audit Practice and Assurance Services. 
Learning Outcomes 

Upon  successful  completion  of  this  subject  students  should  be  able  to: 
• Explain, interpret and apply the legal, regulatory and ethical framework to the 

role of the auditor. 
• Identify audit risks, and describe the procedures undertaken at the planning 

stage to meet the objectives of the audit. 
• Design, evaluate and report on internal control and financial reporting systems 

and identify and communicate control risks, applying these skills to practical 
situations in both manual and computerized environments. 

• Describe the application of Computer Assisted Auditing Techniques. 
• Design, plan and apply audit testing techniques and procedures in the 

practical application of International Standards on  Auditing  (ISAs),  
International Standards on Quality Control (ISQCs) and other technical 
pronouncements to auditing and assurance situations. 

• Evaluate the role of internal audit, including a comparison with the role of 
the external auditor. 



57CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT EXAMINATION SYLLABUS
JANUARY 2020

57	

	

• Draw conclusions, having applied appropriate professional skill, skepticism 
and judgment. 

• Report to shareholders, management and other relevant parties in the 
course of providing audit and assurance services. 

• Plan and perform the necessary work and report on other assurance 
engagements in the context of agreed terms of reference and the legal, 
regulatory and ethical framework. 

• Undertake audit and assurance engagements with reference to the best 
practices and developments in Corporate Governance and their application to 
clients’ processes. 

• Evaluate, explain and discuss issues and developments relating to auditing, 
including audit expectations and developments in the regulation of audits. 

• Demonstrate an ability to work within a professional and ethical framework. 
. 

Syllabus: 
1. Legal and Regulatory Environment 

• An in-depth knowledge of the Companies Acts / Orders and other company law 
legislation affecting the auditor. 

• Responsibilities imposed on auditors of Rwandan Stock Exchange listed companies 
and legal responsibilities to shareholders. 

• An in-depth knowledge of standards and other technical pronouncements issued by 
the IASB and IAASB. 

• A detailed appreciation of case law decisions and their implications for the auditing 
process. 

• An in-depth knowledge of other legal liabilities affecting auditors and accountants in 
providing audit and assurance services. 

2. Ethics 
• Application of the ICPAR Code of Ethics, consider including independence of 

Auditors, Professional ethics /Etiquette for Auditors, confidentiality 
• The fundamental principles of professional ethics. 
• Threats and safeguards. 
• Responsibilities to clients and colleagues. 
• Other responsibilities and practices including, Changes in professional appointments, 

Use of lien in fee disputes, Advertising and publicity, Use of professional 
designations. 

• Conflicts of interests. 
• Code of confidentiality. 
• Introduce a topic on the role of Auditing standards which will cover the following 

areas 
o Professional liability and indemnity. 
o Standard setting process 
o Importance of ISAs and ISREs 
o Misconduct and negligence. 



58 CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT EXAMINATION SYLLABUS
JANUARY 2020

58	

	

3. Internal Controls and Financial Systems 
• Advantages and Disadvantages 
• The definition of the control environment and control procedures. 
• Accounting and Assurance Standards 
• Effective internal controls. 
• The limitations on the effectiveness of internal controls. 
• Ascertaining and understanding internal control systems: narrative notes, flowcharts, 

checklists, internal control questionnaires, walkthrough tests. 
• Evaluations and assessment of accounting systems and internal control systems and 

its subsequent impact on audit work. 
• Reliance on internal controls and internal audit. 
• The principles and control procedures in a computer environment including system 

analysis and design considerations. 
• The use of Computer Assisted Audit Techniques. 

4. Risk Assessment & Audit Process 
• New engagements. 
• The strategic design and planning of an audit and knowledge of the client’s business. 
• Risk assessments (ISA 315) 
• The review of financial statements to include analysis and critical assessment. 
• Business risk audit risk and engagement risk 
• Risk management and reduction 
• Quality control and recording of the audit work. 
• The evaluation and testing of control procedures and audit evidence.  
• Strategic Risks 
• The design and carrying out of tests of substance on specific audit areas. 
• Consideration of materiality, audit risk, reliance on other specialists, events after the 

reporting period, contingencies, related parties. 
• Use of experts. 
• Characteristics of fraud and the responsibility of auditors for detecting material 

misstatement due to fraud. 
5. Reporting 

• Reporting on Audited Financial Statements. 
• Requirements of ISA 700 
• Key concepts: opinion, true and fair view, materiality, and statutory requirements. 
• Basic elements of the Auditor’s Report. 
• Modified Reports, differentiating between, Matters that do not affect the auditor’s 

opinion, and, Matters that do affect the auditor’s opinion. 
• Circumstances giving rise to Modified Reports. – Limitations on Scope, – 

Disagreements with management. 
• Auditor’s responsibility before and after the date of the Auditor’s Report. 
• Auditor’s responsibility for other information in documents (e.g. Annual Report) 

containing audited financial statements. 
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6. Special Audits and Other Assurance Engagements 
• Relevant audit planning, execution (including internal control implications), reporting 

and professional practice considerations concerning: 
ü Group audits, small business audits (including small business exemption), not-for-

profit audits, first time audits. 
ü Prospectuses and other offering documents (investment circulars): historical year-end 

financial statements, interim financial statements, and future oriented information. 
ü Other types of historical financial assurance engagements: financial statements review 

engagement (Accountant’s Report), financial statements compilation engagements 
(Compilation Report), audit or review of specific financial information (e.g. sales 
figures for retail park leases), compliance with agreements (e .g. loan ,covenants), 
agreed upon procedures. 

ü Assurance on internal controls in service organizations. 
ü Other types of audits: value for money/operational, social and environmental, health 

and safety, whistleblowing, forensic (fraud identification, analysis and assessment). 
7. Corporate Governance 

• Best Practice 
• Audit Committees – structures, roles, benefits and drawbacks. 
• Roles and effectiveness of Non-Executive Directors. 
• Anti-Money Laundering Procedures. 

8. Emerging  Issues in Auditing and Audit practice  
• The current issues and developments relating to auditing, including audit expectations 

and developments in the regulation of audits. 
• Expectations and developments in the regulation of audits. 

 
Subject Title: A1.3 Advanced Financial Reporting 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students apply the appropriate judgment and 
technical ability in the preparation and interpretation of financial statements for complex 
business entities. Students must also be able to evaluate and communicate the impact of 
current  issues  and  developments in financial reporting to those who may not have 
that technical expertise. 
Advanced financial reporting as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
By using a case study approach Advanced Financial reporting develops the technical skills 
acquired in Financial Accounting and Financial reporting to ensure that students can view 
financial reporting in its broadest context. 
Learning Outcomes 
On  successful  completion  of  this  subject  students  should  be  able  to: 

§ Apply and explain the acquisition method of accounting and related disclosure 
requirements in financial statements and notes. 

§ Interpret and apply international financial reporting standards (including 
reference to IPSAS) and interpretations adopted by the IASB selecting the 
appropriate accounting treatment for transactions and events. 
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§ Analyze and evaluate financial statements. 
§ Write detailed reports, tailored to the technical understanding of the  different user 

groups. 
§ Evaluate a n d  discuss the main accounting issues currently facing the professional 

accountant in the field of financial accounting. 
§ Demonstrate appropriate professional judgment and ethical sensitivity. 

 
Syllabus: 
1. Regulatory framework 
• Importance of IASB and IPSASB in accounting  
• Steps in developing international financial reporting,International public sector 

accounting standards and interpretations by IFRIC (Excluding detailed in IFRICS),  
• Ethical and legal issues in financial reporting 
• Company Law relating to the preparation of all financial statements 

 
2. International Financial Reporting  
• An in depth knowledge of all technical pronouncements currently in issue with 

particular reference to their application to practical situations (including reference to 
the public sector). 

• International Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards: 
ü Presentation of Financial Statements IAS 1 
ü Property, Plant & Equipment IAS 16  
ü Impairment of Assets  IAS 36 
ü Borrowing Costs IAS 23 
ü Accounting for Government Grants & Disclosure of Government Assistance IAS 20  
ü Leases  IFRS 16 
ü Investment Properties IAS 40  
ü Intangible Assets IAS 38 
ü Inventories IAS 2 
ü Provisions, Contingent Liabilities & Contingent Assets IAS 37  
ü Events after the Balance Sheet Date IAS 10  
ü Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates & Errors    IAS 8  
ü the effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates                            IAS 21 
ü Cash Flow Statements                                                                        IAS 7 
ü Revenue from Contracts with customers                                          IFRS 15 
ü Earnings Per Share                                                                             IAS 33 
ü Income Taxes                                                                                   IAS 12 
ü Financial Instruments                                         IAS 32,IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 
ü First time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS 1 
ü Interim Financial Reporting    IAS 34                 
ü Agriculture                                 IAS 41 
ü Operating Segments                 IFRS 8 
ü Employee Benefits                    IAS 19 
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ü Related Party Disclosures         IAS 24 
ü Share Based Payment                 IFRS 2 
ü Non current asset held for sale and discontinued operations IFRS 5 
ü Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies              IAS 29  
ü Fair value measurement  IFRS 13  

 
3 Preparation of Financial Statements  
• Statutory financial statements for incorporated entities 
• Consolidated financial statements (complex groups). 
• Re-Construction & Re- organization  
• Social Responsibility Accounting 
• Environmental Accounting 

 
4. Analysis, Evaluation and Interpretation of Financial Statements 

• Ratio analysis and cash flow analysis. 
• Critical appraisal of financial statements; and Interpretation of financial statements 

and preparation of reports thereon. 
 

5. Emerging issues in financial reporting. 
       Tutors will prepare and deliver this topis according to the new current trends at the time     
       of delivery. (Eg. New accounting standards)  

 
 

Advanced Level 2 
 
Subject Title: A2.1 Strategic Corporate Finance 
Aim 
The  aim  of  this  subject  is  to  enable  students  to  understand  the  key responsibilities 
and financing decisions facing today’s strategic financial manager. Students should be able 
to develop detailed business plans, to assess   the   potential   financial   risks   and   to   
advise   on   suitable   risk management   strategies   for   entrepreneurial   activities. 

 
Strategic Corporate Finance as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
Strategic Corporate  Finance  develops  the  financial  management  skills acquired by 
students in Managerial Finance (I1.1) and other disciplines acquired  in  the  earlier  
examination  levels.  Strategic Corporate Finance requires students to integrate and expand 
their knowledge so as to provide a framework for strategic financial management analysis and 
decisions. 

 
     Learning Outcomes 
     On  successful  completion  of  this  subject  students  should  be  able  to: 

• Evaluate the financial objectives of an o r g a n i z a t i o n  , explain how they are 
determined and interrelate with the non-financial objectives and stakeholder 
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interests. 
• Discuss the legal regulations, the professional and ethical considerations facing 

financial managers. 
• Value shares / businesses in the context of a proposed merger, acquisition or 

management buyout. 
• Analyze  reasons  for  and  advise  on  actions  to  prevent  corporate  failure. 
• Evaluate  and  advise  as  to  the  optimum  capital  gearing  structure,  term structure 

and dividend policy for an organization . 
• Advise as to appropriate exchange risk and interest rate risk management strategies 

and discuss the use of derivatives in long term risk management. 
• Discuss  the  relevance  of  portfolio  theory  and  the  Capital  Asset  Pricing Model 

to financial managers. 
• Prepare a business plan for a given prescribed information. 
• Evaluate the financial management of an organization over a period of time and /or 

relative to competitors / industry norms. 
 

 Syllabus: 
 

1.            Financial Environment 
• Determining financial objectives within the strategic planning process. 
• Identify key stakeholders of organizations and the interests of  each 

stakeholder group. 
• Corporate   Social   Responsibility,   its   relationship   to   the   objective   of 

organisation 
• Maximising shareholder wealth. 
• Agency theory and its relevance to financial managers. 
• The professional, regulatory and legal framework relevant to financial 

management including stock exchange requirements, money laundering, 
directors’ responsibilities. 

• Monetary regulation and its effect on Capital Markets. 
• The key activities undertaken by treasury managers. 
• Centralized treasury management and the arguments for and against. 
• The efficient market hypothesis. 

 
2.            Mergers and Acquisitions 

• Organic and acquisitive corporate growth. 
• Mergers and acquisitions, the arguments for and against. 
• Procedures to be complied with during an acquisition. 
• Valuation of an organization  in the context of a potential takeover using  the  

earnings ,cashflow and assets based methodologies. 
• The significance of Value Gaps and the information efficiency of capital 

markets. 
• Methods of financing mergers and takeovers including cash, debt, equity 
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and hybrids. 
• Defense tactics used during a hostile takeover. 
• The role of legal and financial due diligence during a merger/acquisition. 
• The attractions and risks associated with Management Buy-outs (MBOs). 
• Sources of finance for MBOs. 
• The      advantages      and      disadvantages      of      management      buy-ins. 
• The   arguments   for   and   against   a   quoted   company   going   private. 

 
3.            Corporate Failure 

• The symptoms and causes of corporate failure. 
• Avoidance of corporate failure. 
• The nature, scope and elements of working capital and the importance of 

effective working capital management to corporate survival. 
• Overtrading- symptoms, causes and remedies. 

4.            Sources of Finance 
• Short term funding. 
• Equity and debt financing. (the attractions and risks associated with each). 
• Optimizing the gearing structure of an organization. 
• The optimum term structure , taking into account  strategic plans. 
• Dividend policy - key considerations.  Including theories of Mogdalini 

& Miller and Myers Pecking Order Hypothesis. 
• Advise on dividend policy. 
• Investment from overseas. 
• Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) -calculate and discuss its uses 

and limitations 
 

5.            Financial Risk Management 
• The key financial risks facing an enterprise. 
• Currency risk - transaction, translation and economic exposure. 
• The workings of the foreign exchange markets. 
• The relationship between foreign exchange rates and interest rates in different 

countries. 
• Forward Exchange Contract and Money Market hedges. 
• Other   forms   of   exchange   rate   risk   management   including, netting, 

leading and lagging, currency swaps, currency futures and currency options. 
• Exchange risk management strategies. 
• Interest   rate   options,   swaps,   forwards and futures . 
• Interest rate risk management strategy. 

 
6.     Portfolio theory  

• Portfolio   diversification,   estimate   the   risk   and   return   of   a   portfolio 
• The relevance of portfolio theory to practical financial management. 
• The  Capital  Assets  Pricing  Model  (CAPM)  –  application  and  
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limitations. 
• APT Arbitrage pricing theory application  and  limitations. 
• Portfolio management strategies 

 
7.            Financial Analysis and Business Planning 

• Preparation of long-term business plans from prescribed information. 
• Appraise capital investment options using NPV, IRR,APV and Payback 

criteria. 
• Evaluation of a business plan from the perspective of an equity investor or 

provider of debt funding. 
• Assessment current financial position. 
•  Comparison and evaluation of the financial management of an organization 

with that of competitors and industry norms. 
• Preparation,   evaluation   and   discussion   of   key   financial   management 

indicators based on the published financial statements of an enterprise. . 
•  Benchmarking of selected financial KPIs against companies in the same 

industry sector. 
      8.            International Managerial Finance 

•              International capital markets 
•              International money markets 
•              Project Finance 
•              Currency Cocktails 
•              Foreign financial intermediaries 
•             International financial institutions 
•             Bilateral, multilateral and regional financial institutions 
•              Integration & Segmentation of financial markets 

 
	

Subject Title: A2.2 Strategic Performance Management 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students have the ability to conduct a critical, strategic 
analysis of unfamiliar business situations. This includes the ability to select, integrate and 
apply the appropriate techniques and approaches in order to identify problems, opportunities, 
and recommend strategies in specific situations. 
 
Strategic Performance Management as an Integral Part of the Syllabus 
This subject builds on the technical knowledge of Managerial Finance, Management 
Accounting, and other disciplines acquired in the earlier examination levels. Strategic 
Performance Management requires students to integrate and expand their knowledge so as 
to provide a framework for strategic analysis of business issues. 
 
Learning Outcomes 
On  successful  completion  of  this  subject  students  should  be  able  to: 
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• Select, integrate, and apply strategic performance management techniques which 
are appropriate to the particular context of specific (but novel and possibly 
unstructured) business situations described in a case study, through the application 
of critical strategic thinking, appropriate professional skepticism and ethical 
judgment. 

• Justify a portfolio of strategic performance management techniques selected by 
reference to the particular illustrative context of a case study situation (and  not  
merely  by  repetition  of  abstract  or  textbook  knowledge)  and: 

- Predict the strategic advantages for applying the proposed techniques in the 
particular situation; 

- Predict any possible adverse side-effects and propose means of 
minimizing such effects. 

• Critically evaluate existing and proposed strategic performance management 
structures as described in a particular case study, and: 

- Construct an improved set of strategic performance  management structures which 
builds on any identified strengths of existing structures while implementing 
any new structures identified as necessary; 

- Justify the improved set of strategic performance management structures in its 
totality (as opposed to justifying only specific elements in a disconnected fashion). 

• Assess the likely effects of existing and proposed strategic performance 
management structures on intra- behaviour, work practices, and group norms (in 
the context of the business situation of an entity described in a case study) and: 

–             Propose means of ameliorating any adverse effects. 
–             Propose means of maximising the extent and strategic advantage of 

any favorable effects. 
• Evaluate the implications for particular strategic performance management systems of 
emerging developments in the fields of information technology (including e-commerce), 
business process re-engineering, benchmarking, and corporate governance and propose 
changes to the strategic performance management systems of a specific  described in a case 
study in the light of such emerging developments.  

Syllabus: 
1. Advanced Decision-Making 

• Pricing decisions (including strategic considerations, revenue management, profit 
maximization, services pricing, and product bundling). 

• Target costing & Lifecycle costing. 
• Product & segment profitability analysis. 
• Customer profitability analysis. 
• Theory of constraints, throughput and back-flush accounting. 
• Activity-based analysis for decision-making. 
• Measuring and managing uncertainty, risk (including risk appraisal, expected values , 

maximax / maximin and sensitivity  analysis ) . 
• Decision making with multiple limiting factors including the formulation of problems 

and interpretation of results using linear programming and the simplex algorithm). 
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• Assessment of mutually exclusive projects, projects with unequal lives. 
2. Planning and Control 

• The purpose of budgetary control systems. 
• Alternative approaches to budgeting (including incremental budgeting, zero-based 

budgeting, activity-based budgeting, rolling budgets, and ‘beyond budgeting’ 
approaches). 

• Budgetary control of engineered, committed, and discretionary costs. 
• Advanced variance analysis (including sales mix & yield; materials mix & yield; 

planning & operational; market size & market share). 
• Critical appraisal of standard costing and variance analysis in modern manufacturing 

environments. 
• Advantages and disadvantages of forecasting techniques including: time series, trend 

analysis, smoothing techniques and seasonal variances. 
3. Performance Evaluation 

• Divisional profitability: Return on investment and residual income. 
• The distinction between economic and managerial performance evaluation. 
• Economic value added . 
• Value-based management. 
• Transfer pricing (including Cost-plus, Market, Negotiated & Dual prices). 
• Interaction of transfer pricing and taxation. 

4. Performance Measurement Systems 
• Mission statements, objectives, strategies and goals. 
• Performance measurement in modern manufacturing environments (including JIT, 

TQM, world class manufacturing, and supply chain management issues). 
• Scenario planning (what if analysis). 
• Alternative competitive strategies. 
• Monitoring of the external environment (including competitor accounting). 
• Financial and non-financial performance measurement. 
• Performance measurement models, including the balanced scorecard. 
• Incentive schemes. 

5. Current Developments in Strategic Performance Management 
• Benchmarking. 
• Impact of developments in information technology and ecommerce. 
• Business process re-engineering. 
• Corporate governance 

 
Subject Title: A2.3 Advanced Taxation 
Aim 
The aim of this subject is to ensure that students understand and can apply the principles and 
practice of taxation and are able to identify and resolve practical taxation problems. Students 
should be able to interpret and apply relevant law and advise on the most tax efficient 
structures. 
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Advanced Taxation as an Integral Part of the Syllabus. 
Advanced Taxation develops the students’ knowledge and competence in tax acquired in 
Taxation. There are also linkages to Advanced Financial reporting, Audit Practice and 
Assurance Services, Strategy & Leadership, Strategic Corporate Finance and Strategic 
Performance Management. 
Learning Outcomes  
On successful completion of this subject student should be able to: 

•             Understand different forms of taxation and tax administration 
•             Compute tax liabilities for various entities 
•             Deal with taxation of specialized activities 
•             Deal with tax investigations 
•             Provide tax planning advice to different forms of business 
•            Demonstrate an understanding of customs management and cross   
              Boarder taxation regimes 
•            Understand the various tax systems and policies 
•          Adopt best practices when dealing with clients.  
• Explain the various tax systems and policies 

 
Syllabus: 
1.Tax Systems and Policies 

• Types of tax systems 
• Role of taxation in economic development 
• Design of a tax policy 
• Criteria for evaluation of a tax system 
• Tax reforms and modernization of tax systems 

 
2. Advanced aspects of direct and indirect tax 

• Individuals		
• Companies/associations 
• VAT  and excise tax 
• Application of relevant case law 

3. Taxation of cross border activities 
• Distinction between trading in and trading with a country 
• Double taxation agreements; theory, design and application 
• Regional perspective with reference to the East African Community (EAC) and the 

Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA) 
• Customs valuation 
• Most favored nation status 
• Withholding tax provisions 
• Transfer pricing 
• Application of relevant case law 

4. Tax Planning 
• Tax planning for individuals and companies 
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• Employment versus self-employment 
• Identifying opportunities to alleviate mitigate or defer the impact of direct or 
• indirect taxation 
• Remuneration packages 
• Corporate structure and dividend 
• Transfer of real properties 
• Pricing Policy 
• Uses of tax incentives 
• Disposal of business operations and restructuring of activities 
• Lease and purchase decisions 
• Forms of business organisations  

5. Professional Ethics in Taxation 
• Form of tax practice and matters relating thereto 
• Obligations to clients 
• Confidentiality 
• Matters relating to new clients 
• Handling of client work 
• Charging for services 
• Matters giving rise to conflict of interest 
• Disclosures in tax returns, computations and correspondence with the Revenue 

Authority 
• Dealing with the Revenue Authority 
• Moral and social issues in taxation 

6.Tax Investigation 
• Tax evasion, tax avoidance and fraud 
• Events which may trigger an investigation 
• Back duty and in-depth examinations 
• Methods of computing omitted and understated income 
• VAT refunds, false claims and accountant’s certificate 
• Capital settlements and ascertainment of income omitted or understated 
• Customs and excise investigations 
• Negotiation for settlement 
• Tax Audit 
• Application of relevant case law 

 
7. Emerging trends in Taxation 

 
Tutors will prepare and deliver this topis according to the new current trends at the 
time of delivery. (Eg. New investment incetives)  
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